RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SELECT VARIABLES AND TEACHER RETENTION

by

CONNIE SUE GREINER

Submitted to the Faculty of The Graduate School of Texas A&M University-Commerce in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of DOCTOR OF EDUCATION December, 2003

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SELECT VARIABLES AND TEACHER RETENTION

Approved: Adviser Dean 8

Dean for Graduate Studies and Research

Copyright © 2003

Connie Sue Greiner

ABSTRACT

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SELECT VARIABLES AND TEACHER RETENTION

Connie Sue Greiner, Ed.D. Texas A&M University-Commerce, 2003

Advisor: James Hardy, Ph.D.

The major purpose of this study, conducted during the spring and summer semesters of 2003, was to determine the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: Professional Development Examination for the Certification of Educators in Texas (PD ExCET) scores, Texas Academic Skills Program (TASP) reading scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, ethnicity, completion of a field-based teacher education program or emergency permit teacher education program, gender, and undergraduate grade point average.

The quantitative study identified students from a single Texas senior-level university who passed the PD ExCET between September 1, 1996 and August 30, 2000. Five research questions were developed for the study. Research questions number one and two addressed descriptive characteristics of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and chose to enter the teaching profession and those who chose not to enter the teaching profession. Research questions number three and four addressed descriptive characteristics of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and returned to the

iv

profession for a second year and those who chose not to return to the profession for a second year. Research question number five addressed the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: PD ExCET scores, TASP reading scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, ethnicity, completion of a field-based teacher education program or emergency permit teacher education program, gender, and undergraduate grade point average.

An attempt was made to develop a logistic regression equation predicting teacher retention. The Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) for Windows Release 11.5 was used to conduct the statistical analyses. However, an acceptable overall model could not be developed. Instead, a point-biserial correlation coefficient was used to determine the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: PD ExCET scores, age, TASP reading scores, and GPA; and a phi coefficient was used to determine the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: ethnicity, teacher education program completed and gender.

The results of the study show that there is no relationship between the selected variables and teacher retention.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I want to thank Dr. James Hardy for keeping me focused and on track so I could finish this project. I could not have gotten to the end without his guidance and patience. He kept smiling, even when I was frustrated and asking too many questions.

Next, very special thanks go to the other two members of my advisory committee, Dr. Sue Espinoza and Dr. Brenda Smith. Dr. Espinoza kept my computer skills sharp and gave me much needed advise all along the way on how to handle different, and sometimes difficult, situations. Dr. Smith allowed me to "vent" and listened without criticizing. Her advice over the years has been invaluable to me.

Third, I want to thank the entire SHED faculty who gave me advice, ideas, guidance, and assistance, whether in class or around the lunch table. They are a great bunch of professionals to work with. Also, special thanks to Dr. Robert Munday for inviting me into the doctoral program and believing in my ability to be successful.

Fourth, this entire project would not have ever been completed without the help and support – and sometimes pushing – of several people, including Spencer Anderson, Jane Clark, Sheryl Zelhart, Jeremy McMillen, and numerous library workers.

And finally, many thanks go to my family – Bob, my husband of 26 years; my well-grounded son, Bobby; and my beautiful daughter, Stephanie Anne. Without their support, this project would never have been completed. I also want to give a special thank you to my late parents, Everette Ray Steele and Laura Evelyn Owens Steele. They always encouraged me to set my sights high and be the best.

vi

Table of Contents

List of Tablesix-			
Chapter 1 – Introduction 1			
Statement of the Problem7			
Purpose of the Study7			
Research Questions			
Significance of the Study9			
Definitions of Terms12			
Limitations and Delimitations14			
Basic Assumptions14			
Organization of Dissertation Chapters 15			
Chapter 2 – Literature Review			
Teacher Retention16			
State-mandated Teacher Certification Examinations			
Teacher Education Programs			
Ethnicity			
Standardized Tests			
Age and Gender 40			
Interrelationships Among Variables			
Summary of the Literature Review			

Chapter 3 - Method of Procedure
Research Questions 49
Participants 50
Instrumentation 51
Collection of the Data 55
Treatment of the Data
Summary
Chapter 4 - Presentation and Analysis of Data
Participant Trends and Characteristics
Research Questions 70
Summary
Chapter 5 - Summary, Findings, Conclusions, Implications for Practice
and Recommendations for Further Research
Summary 79
Discussion
Findings 81
Conclusions
Implications for Practice
Recommendations for Further Study
References
Vita103

List of Tables

1. Select Descriptive Statistics of Air Study I articipality	60
2. Select Descriptive Statistics of All Non-teachers	61
3. Select Descriptive Statistics of 2001-2002 Hires	62
4. Select Descriptive Statistics of Teachers Not Returning for a Second Year	63
5. Select Descriptive Statistics of Retained Teachers	64
6. Number and Percentage of Participants by Gender	65
7. Number and Percentage of Participants by Type of Teacher Education Program.	65
8. Number and Percentage of Participants by Ethnicity	66
9. Number and Percentage of Ethnicity by Gender	66
10. Number and Percentage of Type of Teacher Education Program by Gender	67
11. Number and Percentage of Non-teaching Participants by Gender	67
12. Number and Percentage of Non-teaching Participants by Type of Teacher Education Program	68
13. Number and Percentage of Non-teaching Participants by Ethnicity	68
14. Number and Percentage of Non-teaching Participants by Ethnicity by Gender	69
	(0)
15. Number and Percentage of Non-teaching Participants by Type of Teacher Education Program by Gender	69
 15. Number and Percentage of Non-teaching Participants by Type of Teacher Education Program by Gender 16. Select Descriptive Statistics of PD ExCET Successful Students who Completed the Field-based Teacher Education Program and Entered the Teaching Profession 	70
 Number and Percentage of Non-teaching Participants by Type of Teacher Education Program by Gender	70 71
 Number and Percentage of Non-teaching Participants by Type of Teacher Education Program by Gender	70 71 72

•

19.	Select Descriptive Statistics for PD ExCET Successful Students who Completed the Field-based Teacher Education Program and Chose Not	
	to Return for a Second Year	
20.	Relationship between Teacher Retention and Select Variables	75
21.	Phi Coefficient Results for Teacher Retention and Select Variables	76
22.	Summary of Findings	

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Teaching is a practical art, not an abstract science, and is best learned by students of great teachers and best taught by example (Kopff & Watt, 1990). Schlechty and Vance (1983) found that concern about the competence of classroom teachers was nothing new in America. The authors referred to Ichabod Crane as a "pathetic figure" who spent class time trimming quill pens and conveying the perceived image of a typical male teacher of that era. They also cited Willard Waller who, in 1932, characterized teaching as an occupation made up of unmarriageable women and unmarketable men; and the 1963 publication of J.D. Koerner's book, *Miseducation of American Teachers*, which contained strong criticism of the qualities and characteristics of America's teachers. The authors concluded that the reform movement in American education in the 1960s resulted from the belief that a new breed of better-trained teachers was needed and the assumption was that those who had college degrees were better qualified to teach.

Research by Schlechty & Vance (1983) revealed that increasing the quality of teachers during the 1950s to 1970s meant primarily increasing the quantity of college graduates ready and willing to accept teaching positions. The assumption was that those who had college degrees were better qualified to teach than those who did not. From the early 1970s on, discussions of teacher quality became more clearly focused on selecting the best-qualified applicants from an apparently overabundant pool of college-educated recruits. Currently, colleges do not have enough students to meet the demand for certified teachers. The teacher shortage, combined with demands for accountability and

fiscal cutbacks, make discussions of personal or institutional quality threatening to the job security of people and to the survival of institutions.

Teacher certification has become the method of choice used by the states to evaluate the credentials of prospective teachers to ensure that they meet the professional standards set by individual state education agencies. The process is closely linked to state teacher education program approval and institutional effectiveness. Certification also ratifies the quality of teachers' competence in a specific subject area, educational methodology, teaching skills, and potential classroom management ability, and provides evidence of advanced standing in a profession demonstrated through additional study and/or exemplary professional performance (Roth & Mastain, 1984). According to research by Kopff and Watt (1990), certification fails to provide enough good teachers for the following reasons:

- Certification comes from the political process and is tied to organized interest groups.
- The education establishment, professional groups, and the National Education Association, along with other interest groups, function as labor unions and lobbyists to protect jobs, not to promote excellence.
- Education schools that favor methodology and process in teaching control certification.
- Certification cuts off the public school system from competition, a proven system of excellence in other fields.

Since 1990, at least 36 states have used some type of competency testing as a requirement for teacher licensure. This accountability system began, in part, as a result

of the 1983 report from the National Commission on Excellence in Education, entitled *A Nation at Risk*, and focused on strategies for reforming teacher education (Chambers, Munday & Sienty, 1999). The federal "No Child Left Behind" Act of 2001 put states and districts under new pressure to guarantee a skilled teacher in every classroom. The act required states to ensure that all teachers of the core academic subjects – English, reading or language arts, mathematics, science, foreign languages, civics and government, economics, history, geography, and the arts – are "highly qualified" in every subject they teach by the end of the 2005-06 school year (Price, 2003).

In Texas, certification for teachers requires successful completion of comprehensive examinations in specialized teaching fields and in professional knowledge. The Professional Development (PD) portion of the Examination for Certification of Educators in Texas (ExCET) is made up of criterion-referenced, multiple-choice questions developed around an established set of domains (understanding learners, enhancing student achievement, and understanding the teaching environment) and competencies spelled out in the ExCET Preparation Manual. The tests are intended to assess each candidate's knowledge of the competencies, rather than the candidate's performance in relation to the performance of other candidates (Chambers, Munday, & Sienty, 1999). Test takers who score 70% or better on the PD ExCET and a passing score on specialized teaching field tests meet the state-established criterion for passing and obtaining certification.

In the fall of 2002, the State Board for Educator Certification (SBEC) implemented a new teacher certification examination program that replaced the Examination for the Certification of Educators in Texas (ExCET), which has been the state's teacher certification exam since 1986. The new certification examination program is called the Texas Examinations of Educator Standards (TEXES) and is the result of the evolution of public education in Texas (State Board of Educator Certification, 2003).

Since 1998, Texas has been on the forefront of a national movement to improve education and advance student learning by improving the way school curriculum is aligned from grade to grade, from kindergarten through college. SBEC, working in conjunction with the Texas Education Agency and Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board, developed the K-16 Initiative, which is designed to promote a seamless system of education. The redesign of the educator certification structure was an integral part of the K-16 Initiative. The first step in this process was the development of new standards for beginning Texas public school teachers. These standards are based on the state's required curriculum for public school students, the Texas Essential Knowledge and Skills (TEKS). Developing the new standards and introducing new teacher certificates has been a cooperative process involving numerous committees, each comprised of as many as 25 experts from all educational arenas, from classroom teachers to deans of education, as well as interested citizens. The work of these committees guided the development of the new TExES testing program, which is based on the new standards. Twenty-five new standards-based certificates were introduced in the fall of 2002. SBEC has a goal of replacing all existing ExCET tests and certificates by 2005 (State Board of Educator Certification, 2003).

According to Leibbrand (2000), The National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education (NCATE) recommended multiple measures to assess candidate

performance in the classroom and recognized that paper and pencil examinations do not provide adequate evaluation information. The Council supported performance-based licensing systems that yield comprehensive assessments of candidate and new teacher performance. Research by Westerman (1989) indicated that a positive relationship existed between the correlation of characteristics of effective teachers to the state departments of education minimum standards when the state lists the effective teacher characteristics as required demonstrated competencies within the professional studies of teacher education programs.

Darling-Hammond (1996) reported that even though institutions with high quality teacher education programs were graduating record numbers of teachers, a nation-wide teacher shortage still existed. Kopff and Watt (1990) suggested that this situation was a direct result of the state-mandated certification process. Bradshaw and Hawk (1996) concurred that national teacher shortages had been predicted for some time and had been magnified by low salaries and by increasing career opportunities outside the field of education for women and minorities. Further research indicated that early career attrition for those who do teach was at an all-time high (Bradshaw & Hawk, 1996). In 2002, Jorissen stated "teachers are leaving the profession at an alarming rate." First and second year teachers left the profession at an annual rate of 15%, and approximately 10% of third year teachers left. During the first seven years of their careers, 40% to 50% of all beginning teachers left.

Literature also supported the fact that the greater the preparation of a teacher (e.g., having earned a higher degree and being certified in multiple areas), the more likely the teacher would leave the profession (Westling & Whitten, 1996). Research conducted

by Chapman and Green (1986) supported mounting evidence that the most able students do not pursue a teaching career and that many of the most able teachers tend to leave teaching. The researchers also discovered that academically stronger high school graduates tend not to enter the teaching profession, and of those high school graduates that do enter teacher training, the academically more able students are more likely to switch to another career. Additional research by Chapman and Green (1986) concluded that approximately one of every four students who complete a teacher-training program never begin a teaching career, or leave teaching within the first five years.

Research by Jorissen (2002) suggested increasing new-teacher satisfaction and retention by:

- 1. hiring teachers who have substantial experience working with children and youth;
- 2. assigning new teachers to the grade level/subject for which they are licensed;
- 3. limiting preparations, traveling, and duties;
- 4. developing a culture of collaborative problem solving;
- 5. assigning a qualified mentor;
- 6. relying on mentors to assist in dealing with first year culture shock;
- 7. establishing and maintaining a positive relationship;
- 8. involving new teachers in decision making;
- 9. facilitating professional integration; and

10. recognizing ways in which teachers are making a difference in their students.

Passing a state mandated licensing exam does not guarantee that a teacher will remain in the profession. Despite best efforts by school districts, some teachers leave because of family situations or better offers from another district (Jorissen, 2002). School districts often lose the best candidates because of inefficient and cumbersome hiring practices, barriers to teacher mobility, and inattention to teacher qualifications. Those who do get hired are typically given the most difficult assignments and provided little support. Isolated behind classroom doors with little feedback or help, many new teachers merely learn to cope rather than to teach well (Darling-Hammond, 1996). Teachers who remain in the profession beyond the three-year probationary period do so because of effective strategies implemented by their districts that increase their level of satisfaction and address needs for identity, competency, and efficacy (Jorissen, 2002).

Statement of the Problem

Even with all the emphasis on accountability and high quality teacher education programs, teachers are leaving the profession at a high rate. Little is known about the relationship between teacher licensure competency test scores and teacher retention.

Purpose of the Study

The overall purpose of this investigation was to determine the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: Professional Development Examination for the Certification of Educators in Texas (PD ExCET) scores, Texas Academic Skills Program (TASP) reading scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, ethnicity, completion of a field-based teacher education program or emergency permit teacher education program, gender, and undergraduate grade point average.

Research Questions

The following research questions guided the study.

- What are the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average) of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and chose to enter the teaching profession?
- 2. What are the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average) of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and chose not to enter the teaching profession?
- 3. What are the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, undergraduate grade point average) of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and returned to the profession for a second year?
- 4. What are the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, undergraduate grade point average) of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and chose not to return to the profession for a second year?
- 5. What is the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: PD ExCET scores, TASP reading scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, ethnicity, completion of a field-based teacher education program or emergency permit teacher education program, gender, and undergraduate grade point average?

Significance of the Study

In Texas, a person who wants to earn a teaching certificate must pass stateadopted, state-mandated examinations that cover content and professional development areas. The tests, called the Examination for the Certification of Educators in Texas (ExCET), are competency-based. Universities and colleges prepare students to successfully pass the tests by implementing undergraduate teacher education programs that are competency-based and aligned with the standards and framework of the ExCET.

Mastering competency-based instruction and passing state-mandated teacher certification tests does not ensure that teachers will remain in the profession. Various models have been devised to explain the factors influencing attrition from the teaching profession (Pigge & Marso, 1996). Holland's (1973) Theory of Vocational Choice stated that vocational satisfaction, stability, and achievement depend on the connection between a person's personality and his or her working environment. The theory suggests that career changes may be related to changes in personality, environment, or overall perception of what is involved in teaching. Teachers who rate themselves higher in skills and abilities, values, and professional accomplishments than their peers should exhibit more career satisfaction.

Krumboltz' (1979) Social Learning Theory of Career Selection identified four factors that influence the nature of a career decision. These factors include genetic endowment and special abilities (race, gender, physical appearance, and physical characteristics), environmental conditions and events (social, cultural, political or monetary factors), learning experiences (responding to the environment to produce consequences, and learning by reacting to external stimuli and observation), and task

approach skills (performance standards, work habits, and symbolic rehearsing). The basis for the theory is educational and occupational preference and how these influence career selection. Krumboltz believed that understanding these factors could help answer the question of why individuals change occupations throughout their lives.

Chapman (1984) expanded on Holland's and Krumboltz' theories and developed a Public School Teacher Retention/Attrition Model. The multi-factor model suggested that teacher retention is a function of six related factors:

- 1. teachers' personal characteristics, including gender and age;
- educational preparation (quality of teacher preparation program, student performance, and degree obtained);
- 3. initial commitment to teaching;
- 4. quality of first teaching experience;
- social and professional integration into teaching that measures a teacher's values, skills and abilities, and accomplishments; and
- 6. external influences

Weaver (1983) stated that an individual's marketability in our society is the foremost influence upon both teacher attrition and recruitment. Teachers with more marketable talents are less likely to be attracted to teaching initially and are more likely to be attracted to employment outside the profession. Increased career opportunities in recent years for talented women and minorities, along with the declining attraction of schools as work places, is having a major impact upon the quality of available teachers.

Other researchers have found race, subject specialty, elementary or secondary assignment, salary, and state-mandated test scores to be related to attrition from teaching. In 1989, Murnane, Singer, and Willet's research found that teachers with higher National Teacher Examination (NTE) scores were more likely to leave teaching and identified much higher attrition rates for teachers with subject specialties valued by business and industry. Secondary teachers were found to leave the profession more frequently during the first three years of teaching. These researchers also found that white teachers are more likely to leave the profession than their black peers, and teachers with higher salaries were more likely to remain in teaching. Further research reported similar relationships between gender, salary, teacher marketability, and teacher attrition in New York.

Similar trends in teaching attrition were identified in North Carolina, Michigan, and Colorado. One of the less positive findings related to teacher mobility and attrition in North Carolina was that the more capable teachers and those more attractive to industry and business were less likely to remain in the profession. In Michigan, 15% of the new teachers left teaching before completing two years in the classroom, another 9% left before completing three years, and only 56% were teaching six years after they began teaching. The two primary reasons given for leaving the teaching profession were low salaries and dissatisfaction with teaching. Other reasons included inadequate support from administrators, homemaking/child rearing responsibilities, retirement, employment by private business or government, and self-employment (Pigge & Marso, 1996). In Colorado, turbulence had been created in the field of teacher licensure with the debate over standards and assessment and the use of performance-based assessments in teacher licensure (Cobb, Shaw, & Millard, 1999).

The existing research literature suggested that attrition from teaching is influenced by a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, death, alternative career, sabbatical, illness, maternity/paternity/adoption, personal reasons, professional growth, and staff reduction. The large number of people leaving the teaching profession each year for reasons other than retirement is alarming because principals rate many of these teachers as "highly effective" or "effective" in the classroom (Hare & Nathan, 1999).

Definition of Terms

The following terms are defined in accordance with their relevancy to this investigation:

- Certification process by which the state evaluates the credentials of prospective teachers to ensure that they meet the professional standards set by the state education agency (ERIC, 1986).
- Competency-based instruction model that focuses on what the learner can do as a result of the learning experience, rather than what the learner knows (Maricopa Advanced Technology Education Center, 2001).
- Competencies major skills or abilities needed to perform tasks effectively (Maricopa Advanced Technology Education Center, 2001).
- Criterion-referenced questions assessment questions that are based on skills (criteria) necessary for successful performance.
- 5. Domains spheres of knowledge, influence or activity.
- Emergency permit teacher education program prepares students with an undergraduate or post-baccalaureate degree to become certified as teachers.

Aspiring teachers will engage in focused, practical training through graduate-level coursework leading to certification.

- Field-based teacher education program preparation program through which prospective teachers spend one or two semesters working and learning in public school classrooms while earning degrees and teaching certificates.
- Licensure certifies that minimum professional competencies have been met and entitles the individual to enter professional practice (Bradshaw & Hawk, 1996).
- Minority for the purpose of this study, minority is used to identify the following ethnic groups: African-American, Native American, Hispanic, and Asian.
- Non-minority for the purpose of this study, non-minority is used to identify Anglo participants.
- 11. *Performance-based assessment* student-centered assessment approach that focuses on simulated real-life situations.
- Retention teachers who return to the classroom for a second year are considered retained.
- Professional knowledge knowledge teachers need to help students think critically, create, solve complex problems, and master ambitious subject-matter content.

Limitations and Delimitations

The current study will be limited and delimited in the following ways:

- The population of this study was limited to education students who successfully completed a teacher education program at a single Texas senior-level university and had reported PD ExCET scores of 70+ between September 1, 1996 and August 30, 2000.
- Those students who completed all requirements for Texas teacher certification, but never taught in a Texas public school were excluded from the final data analysis.
- Those students who completed all requirements for Texas teacher certification, but were hired to teach in a Texas public school for the years 2001 and 2002 were excluded from the final data analysis.
- Only those students who taught in a Texas public school for at least one year were included in the final data analysis.

Basic Assumptions

The following assumptions are made for this study:

- 1. Pertinent, valid, and reliable data do exist and can be obtained;
- 2. Student records provided by the Texas single-level university are accurate;
- 3. Records provided by SBEC are accurate;
- The TASP reading score is a reliable and valid measure of student competency in reading.

Organization of Dissertation Chapters

Chapter 2 of this study includes a detailed review of the literature related to the variables of the study (state-mandated teacher certification examinations, teacher education programs, ethnicity, standardized test scores, and age and gender) as predictors of teacher retention, an explanation of the interrelationships among the variables, and a summary of the literature review. Chapter 3 includes descriptions of the method of procedure, collection and treatment of the data, and a summary. Chapter 4 includes a presentation and analysis of the data for the purpose of testing the stated research questions, descriptive characteristics of the participants, and a summary. Chapter 5 contains a summary of the study and the findings, conclusions, implications for practice, and recommendations for further study.

CHAPTER 2

Literature Review

In this literature review, the author will examine studies and literature associated with state-mandated teacher certification examinations, teacher education programs, ethnicity, standardized test scores, and age and gender as related to long-term employment in public education in relationship to teacher retention. An examination of each of these concepts is followed by highlights of research that provides insight into their interrelationships. The chapter concludes with an explanation of the interrelationship among the variables and a summary of the literature review.

Teacher Retention

Statistics reveal that up to 50% of beginning teachers exit the teaching profession within their first five years of service. With fewer people entering the profession, rising retirement numbers, and the growth of school age populations, teacher shortages have become a concern nationwide (Eggen, 2001).

Teachers who remain in the profession period do so because of effective strategies implemented by their districts that increase their level of satisfaction and address needs for identity, competency and efficacy (Jorissen, 2002).

State-mandated Teacher Certification Examinations

School boards, state education agencies and the Federal government have two responsibilities in the education of children. First, they must provide quality school environments (physical plant, equipment, supplies and materials, support services, and school leadership). Second, they must provide teachers who meet appropriate academic and professional standards (Hillard, 1986).

School-age children of a state are entitled to at least as much consumer protection as its citizens receive in other professional areas. The public school system does not operate as a "free market" like other professions. If a person is dissatisfied with a physician or attorney, they can take their business elsewhere. Parents and school children do not have this option. Therefore, states not only have the right, but the obligation, to assure that school children within their jurisdiction have teachers who 1) have the basic knowledge of the subject they plan to teach; and 2) can demonstrate adequate skills in communication, literacy, and mathematics necessary to instruct children in elementary or secondary classrooms (Goodison, 1986). Promoting higher educational standards in United States public schools has become identified with high-stakes testing. Politicians have played out the accountability card repeatedly and effectively as a tool for leveraging school reform. Many states are looking at teacher certification tests as the tool to raise teacher standards. The argument is that if a rigorous test is used as the hurdle for entry into the profession, then standards will go up. Many see the testing option as a mechanism that is being used to exercise control over the teacher education curriculum and as a path for allowing anyone with a college degree and sufficient knowledge and test-taking skills to pass (Price, 2003).

The major common element in most educational reform activities around the United States is the teacher competency test. There are two basic types of teacher certification tests currently being used: 1) generic (professional knowledge) tests, and 2)

subject-matter (content) tests. Both tests use the multiple-choice format. Subject-matter teacher certification tests assess knowledge specific to particular certification areas and are based on the assumption that to teach effectively, one must have at least a minimal command of the subject matter. Generic, or professional knowledge, teacher certification tests assume that there is a body of knowledge, vocabulary, and skills that all teachers must master in order to be minimally competent in the classroom (Madaus & Pullin, 1987).

Teacher certification testing programs are generally used at three distinct levels: 1) prior to acceptance into teacher education, 2) prior to state certification, and 3) prior to certificate renewal. Tests that are required prior to acceptance into a teacher education program are generally administered at the end of a student's sophomore year and assess either basic skills and/or general knowledge. Tests that are required prior to obtaining a state teaching certificate are administered when the applicant has completed or has nearly completed a preparation program, or during the first year of teaching, and assess both pedagogy and content knowledge. The reward for passing the test is a valid state teaching certificate. Because the teachers' organizations and unions around the country are against the testing of practicing teachers, there is not much activity at the level of administering tests prior to certificate renewal (Flippo, 1986).

Hillard's 1986 research sited four reasons competency tests are being used for teacher certification:

- The tests are cheap to produce using paper/pencil multiple-choice tests that can be machine scored.
- 2. The minimum score requirements can be shifted up or down with ease.

- 3. The tests have "face validity", the least rigorous type of validity.
- Because the tests are controversial and generate confused discussions, fundamental scientific problems can become obscure.

Also according to Hillard, the idea of requiring that professional educators demonstrate an acceptable level of expertise is entirely appropriate. However, the method of that demonstration must be rational, meaningful, and valid. For example, since there is no universal or common agreement on the elements that make up the content of traditional academic subjects in high school, it is absurd to believe that currently used tests are measuring the academic knowledge that a teacher needs to be licensed. Hillard went on to explain that unless the public school curriculum, the college curriculum, and the content of an academic competency test overlap, the test is not a valid measure of academic competency. Hillard also sited the absurdity of the use of tests to measure professional knowledge, since a common knowledge base in professional education has yet to be identified or supported by the majority of professional educators. Hillard concluded his argument against teacher-competency tests by stating that by allowing paper-and-pencil tests to become the filter that determines who will be allowed to teach, these tests do not guarantee standards of excellence.

As a result of his research, Hillard developed a list of criteria that should be met by any valid assessment approach to allow teachers to demonstrate academic and professional competencies that includes:

 The approach must be based on the existence of a clearly defined body of academic content that is agreed upon by all users.

- The approach must be based on the existence of a clearly defined body of professional content that is agreed upon by all users.
- The approach must be based on the existence of a clearly defined body of professional skills that is agreed upon by all users.
- 4. There must be a substantial, empirically verifiable match between academic and professional program content and the test.
- There must be substantial, empirically demonstrated criterion-related validity for each component of the assessment process.
- 6. A valid and comprehensive set of measures for child outcomes must exist.

An analysis of the findings of a study by Bolton in 1984 led to the following conclusions concerning teacher competency testing. (1) The benefits of teacher testing to state agencies, schools of education, school districts, and society outweigh the disadvantages of increased budgets and larger educational bureaucracies and the possibility of teacher shortages. (2) Teacher competency testing procedures are used primarily for entrance to and graduation from teacher education programs and for certification purposes. (3) Characteristics of a comprehensive teacher competency-testing program include a written assessment of acquired knowledge, procedures for evaluating an applicant during student teaching, a probationary period prior to permanent certification, additional training or assistance for teachers, and provisions for retaking of failed examinations. (4) Evidence indicates that although state-created tests are desirable, locally created and nationally developed tests are utilized in testing programs. (5) Legal problems will be encountered by testing programs in the areas of minority discrimination and cutoff scores, and political opposition from teacher organizations will continue.

In Texas, prospective teachers are required to pass a minimum of two statemandated certification tests - one professional knowledge test and one content area test to receive a valid teaching certificate. This certificate requirement was first mandated in 1981 by the Texas Legislature both as a quality assurance measure for the general public, and as a way of demonstrating that teaching was indeed a profession, since other professions required the successful completion of an examination prior to entry (Ishler, 1985). The test has evolved from the Texas Examination of Current Administrators and Teachers (TECAT), a test of basic literacy; to the Examination for Certification of Educators in Texas (ExCET), a test made up of criterion-referenced, multiple-choice questions developed around an established set of domains (understanding learners, enhancing student achievement, and understanding the teaching environment) and competencies that is intended to assess the candidate's knowledge of the competencies, rather than the candidate's performance in relation to the performance of other candidates; to the Texas Examination of Educators Standards (TExES), a test based on new standards for beginning Texas public school teachers. These standards are based on the state's required curriculum for public school students, the Texas Essential Knowledge and Skills (TEKS).

Can quality in teaching really be improved by certification testing? Research from some states indicated that it can, but their evidence usually consisted of rising test scores. When the data and the circumstances surrounding the issues are better understood, it becomes evident that rising test scores indicate that more persons are able to pass the tests, but the rising scores do not indicate that the quality of teacher certification applicants has improved (Flippo, 1986). Furthermore, according to Goodison (1986), no empirical relationship between basic competency test scores and actual job performance or attrition has been established. For this reason, test scores should not be used for ranking examinees for selection and should never be used as the sole criterion in any decision process regarding job retention, tenure, or dismissal. The Educational Testing Service has stated its position that putting an experienced, fully certified teacher's professional career on the line solely on the basis of a one-time basic skills test is an injustice to the teacher and a misuse of the test. In no other occupation requiring licensure or state certification does such a requirement occur.

No one questions the state's authority to require that before a person is allowed to practice a profession or occupation, such as law, medicine or dentistry, he or she must demonstrate on a test requisite knowledge to practice the chosen profession. As with teacher competency testing, a medical exam, bar exam, or other licensure exam does not predict how well a physician or attorney will perform. Even though there are incidents of malpractice and shoddy legal advice, no one would say those are reasons to abandon licensing exams for doctors and attorneys. When it comes to teachers, the argument has been that without predictive validity, teacher competency tests should be abandoned. It is not reasonable to place a heavier burden on teacher tests than on other professional licensure tests. Licensure tests only assure that the individuals who are licensed or certified have at least mastered the knowledge and skills necessary to perform competently in their chosen profession (Goodison, 1986).

According to research conducted by Flippo (1986), consideration should be given to the following potential problem areas for certification tests that are used to mandate the quality and products of teacher education programs:

- 1. Strained university and state relationships Since the pass rates on the statemandated teacher certification tests are used to measure the quality of a university, their faculties, and their teacher education programs, testing graduates puts the universities on the defensive. The colleges and universities assert that their graduates are competent, but the system often leads to adverse or hostile relationships between the colleges/universities and the state department of education. Results from the tests are compared by indicating pass/fail rates for each institution. These comparisons are often unfair because different populations of students attend various institutions within the state.
- 2. Teaching toward the test becomes a solution when university faculties realize that their programs are being compared or that their students' abilities to pass the test reflect on program images. In some colleges and universities in states implementing certification testing, courses have been developed on how to pass the test. Minimum competencies become the curriculum and the courses focus on the objectives or content of the tests.
- 3. Excellent programs with deceptive test results University teacher education programs that stress creativity and excellence can be punished by low pass rates. Sometimes those who know more may read more into the questions. Their knowledge of the most recent research and literature can cause them to see that item choices, in addition to the correct one, are possible. This results in mediocrity being rewarded and excellence being punished.
- 4. Programs with low pass rates Should these programs be put on probation or shut down? Should more pressure be put on programs to get students to pass the tests?

Should remediation be required? Because of the large amount of money states have invested into current testing programs for teacher certification, results cannot be ignored, but should be looked at very seriously, since the programs in question could be in colleges and universities with large minority populations.

- 5. Rising test scores are a direct result of the availability of questions, objectives and content. Because the purpose of the testing should be to screen out persons who are not competent enough to teach in public schools, tests with known questions or content become less effective at screening the more they are administered.
- 6. Remediation may become a necessity for those persons who repeatedly take the test and never pass. Some of these examinees blame the colleges and universities for their failures, while others request specific assistance from the state department of education. Study guides have been developed to remove some of the pressure from the state department of education and colleges/universities. The study guides give examinees tips on how to take the tests, how to study for them, and provide sample questions and references to use in order to prepare for the objectives or content being tested. The problem with study guides, besides the enormous cost for developing, is that if they are well constructed and appropriately developed, students' test scores might rise without actually improving students' skills.

While tests cannot measure patience and love of children and learning, and cannot identify those who have personal warmth, empathy, drive, and dedication to the teaching profession, they can provide reliable information about the basic competencies of a pool of applicants. Good quality standardized tests indicate what students have learned, and

show how well students are able to apply learning to what tests ask of them (Gifford, 1986).

Teacher Education Programs

There cannot be an assumption that the objectives and content of teacher-training curricula reflect the proficiency areas or levels passed by capable entry-level teachers (Gifford, 1986). A teacher education program emphasizing quality should include performance-based and competency-based components. If professional competency is achieved by the accomplishment of stated objectives that strive to describe learning that should take place, it is necessary to translate such objectives into performance criteria when possible (Brubaker, 1976). A model for selection and retention in teacher education was developed by Brubaker that included administrative organization, roles of student personnel services in the selection-retention program, criteria for admission to the program, introduction to teacher education, provisions for probationary status, performance components in the laboratory experience, and feedback concerning program success.

In order to decrease the number of teachers who are leaving the profession, Colbert and Wolff (1992) described in their article *Surviving in Urban Schools: A Collaborative Model for a Beginning Teacher Support System* a teacher retention program developed collaboratively between the Los Angeles Unified School District (LAUSD) and the California State University, Dominguez Hills (CSUDH). Two regions in the school district were selected to implement the program because the schools were

located in low socioeconomic inner-city areas characterized by annual teacher attrition that had been higher than 50%.

The university and the school district agreed upon the major goal for the project and the way they would achieve the goal. The goal was to retain as many beginning teachers as possible in inner-city classrooms by developing and implementing a model for providing them with systematic support and assistance and reducing their feelings of isolation through cooperative team planning. The project included beginning teachers (first or second year of teaching) and emergency credentialed teachers (earning a credential while teaching full-time) who were teamed with experienced teachers who had demonstrated excellence in teaching and leadership qualities at their schools and who were recognized as nurturing and nonjudgmental. Teams of two to four beginning teachers and one lead teacher were formed at each identified school. The teams met weekly for cooperative planning, problem solving and assistance. Lead teachers were trained in methods of classroom observation and coaching, and beginning and lead teachers enrolled together in university classes designed for program participants, which included university-staffed telephone helplines available for additional support. Participants also enrolled in classroom management and cooperative learning courses. Feedback from beginning teachers, emergency credentialed teachers, and lead teachers identified the classes as vital for teachers in their initial classroom experience. The collaboration between the university's school of education and the school district was a critical aspect of the project. Following the three-year project, the university and district personnel learned to value each other's contributions and expertise, and recognized that neither could do the job alone with the same success (Colbert & Wolff, 1992).
The conclusion to Colbert and Wolff's research is that beginning teacher support must become a high priority for school districts and university teacher education programs. The authors' research recommended five steps to accomplish this important conclusion:

- Design and implement a collaborative training program between school districts and university schools of education of administrators and experienced teachers in classroom observation and peer coaching strategies.
- Develop creative and flexible scheduling to provide release time to peer coaches and beginners to provide opportunities to build trusting relationships that can contribute to increased career satisfaction and retention of beginning teachers.
- Encourage experienced teachers to participate in the professional growth of new teachers.
- 4. University schools of education must collaborate with local school districts and welcome them as equal partners in the education business, including matching school district and university calendars to prevent conflicts between activities at the schools and in the support system.
- Collaboration between universities, school districts, state departments of education, and teacher credentialing commissions must continue to develop, regardless of the availability of external funding.

Research by Chapman (1984) found that student teaching was an important part of preservice teacher preparation. Among the participants in his research who entered teaching, the quality of a first teaching experience was more strongly related to subsequent attrition than was their academic performance or the perceived adequacy of their educational program. Actual classroom experience provided important information for career decision-making not contained in academic training. Since the single strongest predictor of retention was initial commitment to teaching, Chapman concluded that teacher preparation programs might be able to exercise influence on future teachers through efforts to reinforce and encourage commitment to teaching, or to encourage those who were unsure about teaching to seek other career alternatives.

A collaborative project of the Texas Education Agency, the Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board, the State Board for Educator Certification, Region XX Education Service Center, and the Texas Center for Educational Research resulted in a report entitled *Texas Teacher Recruitment and Retention Study*. The report recommended the following:

- Texas teacher training programs need to expand their capacity and emphasize recruitment of qualified candidates who are already thinking about a career in teaching.
- 2. Certification programs based at higher education institutions supply the largest number of incoming teachers for Texas schools. There are no specific techniques associated with educator preparation programs and only isolated direct efforts to target students who might make good teachers. Intense, mandated recruitment techniques should be initiated.
- Alternative certification programs should focus their recruiting efforts within the communities served by the school districts that are their partners.
- School districts should participate in recruitment activities that involve their communities and higher education institutions.

5. The effectiveness of induction programs for novice teachers should be increased.

According to a study of the teacher attrition rate in Texas done by Marshall & Marshall in 2003, teachers who were surveyed recommended the following changes in teacher education programs at higher education institutions: increase the amount of time education students spend in field-based classroom activities, start education students in field-based classroom activities earlier than their junior year, and require courses on classroom management that are approached through a practical perspective rather than a theoretical approach.

In addition, Price (2003) listed five areas relevant to educators, teacher educators, administrators and policy-makers that should be considered in negotiating the challenges of improving teacher preparation: cost, commitment, content, continuity, and control. Policy makers should scrutinize carefully the money dedicated by state legislatures to the preparation of teachers to be sure it is reaching the intended programs, and that the tuition and fees students pay for their preparation to teach is going to the programs in which they are enrolled. Colleges of Education need to examine their commitment to teacher preparation; encourage quality, experienced, full-professors to teach in the undergraduate teacher education programs; and align their mission and commitment to the university's. Serious consideration should be given to what is being taught and how, ensuring that knowledge is transformed into principles that can guide action through systematic and rigorous self-study. Conversations and deliberations over teacher preparation should bridge into a life-long learning-to-teach model that attracts and supports the best teachers. Autonomy should be attained within a framework of accountability.

Putting control of the content of teacher preparation in the hands of the state bureaucrats instead of in the hands of academics who thrive on autonomy is like giving hospitals or HMOs the responsibility for medical education, giant law firms the responsibility for legal education, and multi-national corporations the responsibility for the education of engineers. These are not effective ways to prepare knowledgeable, reflective professionals. Effective teachers are creative, responsible and knowledgeable. University-based teacher preparation programs are not there to train teachers, but to educate them (Price, 2003).

Ethnicity

Job opportunities for women and minorities have opened up in career fields where salaries and future opportunities have exceeded those of teachers in classrooms. Traditionally, teaching had been one of the most attractive career options for women and minorities. The fact that the most able have many other choices is having an adverse effect on the quality of entrants into the teaching profession (Anrig, Goertz, & Clark, 1986).

In Texas, during the 2000-2001 school year, there was a 58% minority representation in the student population, but only 27% in the teaching population. If there is not an increase of the supply of teachers, specifically minority teachers, the students in Texas will be at risk (Marshall & Marshall, 2003).

According to research, the National Education Agency opposed the use of tests as a criterion for teacher certification evaluation and promotion because standardized exams are biased against those who are economically disadvantaged, or who are culturally and linguistically different. Individuals and groups concerned with the dissimilar impact of standardized examinations on prospective teachers from minority backgrounds are reluctant to endorse the use of the exams as a criterion for certification (Gifford, 1986).

In California, the highest failure rate on the California Basic Educational Skills Test (CBEST) in 1983 was among Blacks. For other minority groups, the test results were not much better. Only 39% of Hispanics and 50% of Asian-Americans passed the test. In comparison, the pass rate among Whites was 76%. The pass rates were similar in other areas of the United States. Of a total of 5,500 teachers certified in Florida in 1981, only 200 were Black. The Florida Teacher Competency Examination, administered for the first time in 1983, resulted in similar low numbers. While 90% of White candidates passed the examination, only 35% of Black candidates, 51% of Hispanic candidates, and 63% of Asian candidates passed (Gifford, 1986).

The first administration of the Texas testing program for prospective teachers eliminated 84% of the Black candidates and 65% of the Hispanic candidates on the basis of the mathematics examination. Also, 87% of the Black candidates and 65% of the Hispanic candidates failed the reading test, and 80% of the Black candidates and 56% of the Hispanic candidates failed the writing test (Gifford, 1986).

The problems associated with these high minority failure rates are made all the more serious by the increasing need for qualified Black, Hispanic, and Asian-American teachers at a time of rapid demographic change. The combination of high minority failure rates on teacher examinations and high minority pupil enrollment rates could result in a high degree of tension between minority parents and a largely non-minority teaching staff. A conflict between communities and schools could ensue (Gifford, 1986).

According to Gifford (1986), the rates of failure on teacher examinations by minority teacher candidates reflect two gloomy trends. First, interest in teaching on the part of many well-educated students, especially talented minority students, has declined sharply in the last fifteen years. As new career opportunities outside education open up, the best and brightest minority and women students, who earlier might have entered teaching, have chosen other fields. Second, colleges and universities are failing to guarantee that their graduates, both minority and non-minority, can read with comprehension, write literately, and perform routine mathematical computations. The result is a decline in the supply of talented, well-educated minority teachers. Gifford attributes this second trend to the lack of a commitment by higher education institutions to the improvement of the attractiveness of the teaching profession.

In Florida, where applicants for teacher-training programs must score a minimum of 840 on the Scholastic Aptitude Test (SAT), some predict that future teachers from minority groups could become a vanishing breed. In Texas, where candidates for certification must pass state-mandated certification tests, researchers estimate that high numbers of Black and Hispanic candidates will be denied permission to teach on the basis of their reading tests alone. These findings have a devastating effect on young adults who have a strong desire to build a career for themselves by educating children, and minority groups who are denied access to successful role models. The extended fallout is that minority youth, upon learning that many prospective minority teachers are judged

not good enough to teach, will lose confidence in their own abilities and conclude that higher education is off limits to them (Gifford, 1986).

Many insights into the need for proficiency testing are gained by analyzing the arguments advanced by sociologist Harry Edwards of the University of California at Berkley regarding Rule 48 of the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA). Passed in 1986, the rule required freshmen who wanted to participate in sports at any of the nation's Division I colleges and universities to have attained a minimum combined SAT score of 700 or a composite score of 15 on the American College Test (ACT) examination. Another requirement was to achieve a C average in eleven specific high-school courses, including English, mathematics, social sciences, and physical sciences. Many minority educators disagreed with the rule, claiming that the SAT and ACT were racist diagnostic tests, biased in favor of White students, and that the proposed cutoffs imposed unfair penalties on Black athletes. However, Edwards argued for the rule on the basis that by not supporting the rule, he would be sending a message to Black youth across America that he did not believe that they had the capacity to achieve the minimum scores (Gifford, 1986).

The rule was updated at the NCAA annual convention in the summer of 1995. The new standards strengthened the requirements for freshman eligibility and mandated that student athletes must make faster progress toward their degrees. The number of core courses that high school students must take to be eligible for intercollegiate athletics increased from eleven to thirteen. Other changes included raising GPA requirements from 2.0 to 2.5, raising the minimum SAT score to 800, and raising the minimum ACT score to 19 (Steenkamer, 1992). Support of minimum-competency rules were coupled

with insistence that minority students received a sufficiently high-quality education necessary to enable them to score competitively on standardized tests, including statemandated teacher examinations (Gifford, 1986).

Test bias can be difficult to substantiate, and the elimination of test bias can be equally problematic. According to Gifford (1986), a class-action suit was filed in 1981 against the Alabama State Board of Education on the grounds that the state's teachercompetency testing program discriminated against Blacks and violated their constitutional and statutory civil rights. One provision of the consent decree in favor of the plaintiffs required the state to delete test questions that showed Black/White performance differentials of more than 15%. However, the consent decree was vacated in 1986 because the remedy would have resulted in the deletion of a large number of test items, which would have removed race bias, but would have also distorted the job relatedness of the testing program. The argument of test bias extends to scholastic aptitude tests, used by many colleges and universities to accept and reject applicants on the basis of merit. For many students these tests may be more of a reflection of their social class than of their potential for accomplishment inside or beyond the classroom. Research indicates that the major differential among SAT test scores is not between Black and White students, but between students from well-off families and students from poor families (Gifford, 1986).

The present pattern is clear: substantially larger proportions of Whites than Blacks or Hispanics are passing teacher-competency tests. What is unclear are the reasons for this trend. According to Anrig, Goertz, and Clark (1986), the three most common reasons – or myths – that have been used to explain differential pass rates are:

- qualifying scores that have been established at the precise point that eliminates a majority of Black and Hispanic candidates, but permits the majority of White candidates to pass;
- 2. predominately White institutions are more effective at promoting student achievement than predominately Black institutions; and
- 3. failure rates reflect "bad" teacher education programs.

In reality, raising or lowering the qualifying score will affect percentages of Whites, Blacks, and Hispanics who pass the test. It will not, however, eliminate the problem of differential pass rates, or the fact that Blacks and Hispanics will be underrepresented among those who pass. Regarding myth #2, the pass rates among Blacks in predominately White institutions are not significantly higher than the pass rates for Blacks in predominately Black institutions in the same state. Whites in predominately Black institutions tend to achieve at rates that are comparable to or better than the rates of their counterparts in predominately White institutions. The overall pass rates for an institution may or may not be representative of the pass rates for the racial/ethnic groups within that institution. As for myth #3, accountability for teacher education should rest with the entire college or university, since approximately 40% of a teacher education program consists of general language arts coursework, and 35 to 40% is in the field of specialization to be taught. Research shows that perspective teachers, particularly Blacks and Hispanics, perform better on tests of pedagogy than on tests of general knowledge. Success or failure may be in education generally, rather than teacher education in particular (Anrig, Goertz, & Clark, 1986).

The question remains – how can the cycle of minority failure on state-mandated teacher certification tests be stopped? Research indicates that the reason minority applicants fare worse on the tests than Whites is that minority students are victims of inferior schooling. Instead of blaming the victim for the failure on examinations, focus must be put on the reform of the educational institutions that prepare future teachers. An underlying cause of the low minority pass rates on teacher-competency tests is inequities in the resources devoted to teacher-training institutions, particularly historically Black colleges. When higher-education institutions are strengthened, then the skills and knowledge of future teachers are advanced (Gifford, 1986).

Gifford (1986) suggested a comprehensive proposal to ensure students in teacher education programs at colleges and universities are taught all of the skills and understanding that they will need to function well in the contemporary world and to be prepared to make the best adaptations and choices in their lives as they move into the future. The proposal consisted of three steps: 1) the early recruitment and intensive training of minority and low-income students who have a commitment to teaching, 2) the implementation of improved teacher selection policies, and 3) the identification and reward of outstanding teachers. All of the knowledge and skills that are tested in competency examinations are learnable. Students can achieve acceptable test scores if they are taught what they need to know.

Research by Drew (2001) concerning the shortage of minority teachers in the teaching profession revealed several factors that have influenced African-American teachers to remain in teaching. Three themes emerged from the data, which Drew suggested might help educational leaders as they seek to recruit and retain African-

American teachers. (1) African-American teachers who exhibit an "ethic of care" practice a culturally relevant pedagogy. They encourage and support their students and demonstrate persistence in meeting the challenges of reluctant learners. (2) African-American teachers who demonstrate a sense of personal accountability feel obligated to their work as teachers. They know their students and their circumstances; and they are committed to helping children experience success in school. (3) Despite the importance of teachers' personal commitment and ethic of care, there are environmental and work-related factors leaders can practice in seeking to recruit and retain African-American teachers. Drew's research concluded that the voices of experienced African-American teachers provide the educational community with an opportunity to reflect on their values and beliefs about the teaching profession, and its obligation to help all children experience success in school.

Teaching is one of the most important activities of the human race. It is the one skill whose absence prevents successes and guarantees failures. Without good teaching, genius is struck dumb, poverty is made permanent, power is likely to be brutal, and culture is doomed to be channeled into mind-forged ruts. Lack of good teaching results in squabbling, atomistic tribes, each one pursuing narrow objectives, unable to identify with the aspirations of anyone outside of the group. Good teaching provides society with the tools necessary for self-perpetuation and self-renewal. As admirable and important as is the goal of increasing the ranks of minority teachers, this objective must not be put before the more fundamental objective of securing good teaching for those who need it most (Gifford, 1986).

Standardized Tests

According to research by Chambers, Munday, and Sienty (1999), when the variables grade point average, TASP reading scores, critical thinking ability, reading ability, gender, and age were examined to determine their effects on the scores of the PD ExCET, the result was that all variables were predictors of successful performance. However, when the variables were removed from the full research model and tested separately, only the set of critical thinking subtest scores were meaningful contributors. The conclusion of the research was that critical thinking abilities of the subjects are predictors of successful performance on the PD ExCET scores.

Subsequent research conducted by Dobry, Murphy, and Schmidt (1985) supported the claim that the National Teacher Examination (NTE) of Professional Knowledge did not serve as a predictor for ratings of student teacher competence, but their research did find a significant relationship between student grade point average and the professional knowledge test. Moore, Schurr and Henriksen corroborated this research in 1991 when they compared the relative accuracy of the National Teacher Examination Core Battery subtest scores and college grade point average for predicting teacher effectiveness. The study also evaluated if the subtests improved the prediction of teacher effectiveness over using the grade point average. Passing scores on the subtests of the exam are required for teacher certification in several states and some school personnel consider the scores when hiring new teachers. The conclusion of the research was that there was little evidence that the NTE Core Battery subtest scores provided useful information for predicting the teaching effectiveness of beginning teachers and that college grade point average

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

provided more accurate predictions of teaching effectiveness than did the core battery subtests.

According to research by Sibert (1989), the American College Testing (ACT) program test was a good predictor of scores on the Pre-Professional Skills Test and the National Teacher Examination of Professional Knowledge. The research concluded that the ACT scores could be used to predict the NTE scores. Villeme (1982) found that the ACT score appeared as the best predictor of success on the Professional Practices tests of the Florida Teacher Certification Examination. Additionally, student background variables (race, sex, education major, and lower level college background) appeared most useful for predicting Florida Teacher Certification Examination Professional Practices performance, with race appearing most consistently as a contributor to prediction. The findings concluded that the colleges of education entry factors (ACT scores and grade point average) were most promising for the prediction of performance on the Florida Teacher Certification Examination.

Research by Dybdahl, Shaw, and Edwards (1997) showed that there has been a lack of correlation between basic competency test scores and effectiveness in the classroom, and that the Pre-Professional Skills Test and the National Teacher Examination of Professional Knowledge were found to be weak predictors of actual classroom performance. Their research concluded that there was a significant relationship between undergraduate grade point average and the National Teacher Examination Core Battery test, and there was no significant correlation between basic competency test scores and various measures of program effectiveness. Notably absent from the research were correlations between the Pre-Professional Skills Test and achievement in student teaching, employment interview scores, and post graduate employment. There was scant evidence to support the contention that performance on a teacher competency test is correlated with effective teaching.

A 1988 study of 188 education majors who completed course work at West Texas State University conducted by Nance and Kinnison suggested that ACT scores and GPA were reliable predictors of success on the ExCET. The researchers found that students who passed the ExCET scored six points higher on the ACT composite score than students who failed the ExCET, and that grade point averages were a significant factor for students who passed the ExCET. Further research by White, Burke, and Hodges (1994), Simonsson and Poelzer (2000), and Justice and Hardy (2001) supported the findings that SAT scores, ACT scores, TASP reading scores, and GPA are all significant predictors of ExCET success.

The fact is that after more than a decade of teacher testing, research has failed to demonstrate any significant relationship between basic competency tests and other measures of program success, including success in teaching. Rationale for teacher competency testing that assumes predictive validity is probably misleading (Dybdahl, Shaw, & Edwards, 1997).

Age and Gender

Important findings have shown that teachers' decisions whether to stay or leave the teaching profession are highly influenced by their age. The relationship between teachers' age and their departure has been found to follow a U-shaped curve. Younger teachers have very high rates of departure. The rates decline through the mid-career period and then rise again in the retirement years. Because the distribution of age in the teaching force is skewed upward – older teachers significantly outnumber younger teachers – many analysts have concluded that retirement due to a rapidly graying teaching workforce is the most significant factor behind teacher attrition, teacher shortages, and school staffing problems (Ingersoll, 1997).

Research by Cohen (1990) found that five to six years after completing teacher certification, only 46% of traditional college-age students remained in the teaching force, whereas 85% of nontraditional or returning students were still teaching. Nontraditional, returning students begin their professional preparation in education with a background of realistic experiences with children. They make a commitment to education at a point in the life span when they have attained competence on a wide spectrum of adult concerns. Consequently, they are more likely to enter and remain in the profession than younger students. Traditional age teacher education candidates, in contrast, are considering career entry as they confront the challenges of young adulthood in the realms of family, finances, and long-term security. They are less likely to commit to the profession and may well need more guidance and direction from their professional preparation experiences in order to assess their interests, strengths, and career choices. In terms of future career planning, the nontraditional teachers intend to remain in classroom teaching positions while the traditional teachers are more inclined to set goals to move outside of the classroom into administrative or service positions (Cohen, 1990).

Research by Grissmer and Kirby (1993) also supported the theory that suggested a U-shaped relationship between age and attrition, with the probability of attrition likely to

be much higher during the early stages of the career, very low during mid-career, and high as the teacher approached retirement. This pattern holds true not only for a single group of teachers, but over time as well. Grissmer and Kirby found that annual attrition rates among young teachers, those aged 20-24, tended to be high – 23% in 1965 and 13% in 1985. The attrition rate fell with age, being the lowest for teachers aged 45-54 years. Then, not unexpectedly, attrition was higher for those aged 55 and over – the group approaching retirement.

Grissmer and Kirby's 1993 research discovered a surprising trend over time in terms of the age profile of new teachers. New teachers tended to be somewhat older than in the 60s and 70s. Three-quarters of new teachers then were younger than 25. By 1985, fewer than half were younger than 25, with almost a third being between 25 and 29 years, and the remaining 27% being 30 years or older. Older teachers tended to stay in teaching much longer than younger teachers. Those who entered at age 24 or younger appeared to be at the greatest risk of leaving. At the end of two years, about a third of those teachers had separated from teaching as compared to only 20% of those over 30. Grissmer and Kirby concluded that new graduates are postponing teaching, perhaps to stay in school longer or to try other occupations, and individuals are entering teacher education programs at older ages.

Studies show that attrition differs markedly for different demographic groups, especially between men and women. Men have much lower rates of attrition than women. Two years after entry, 28% of men drop out as compared to almost 35% of women. By the fourth year, well over half of the women have left teaching at least once, while the corresponding number for men is only 43%. However, the differences are

much smaller when permanent attrition is examined – only 2 to 3 percentage points. The conclusion is that women tend to drop out more frequently than men, but tend to return more frequently as well (Grissmer & Kirby, 1993).

Additional research by Bloland & Selby (1980) concluded that male teachers were more likely to change professions than females, with single males being the most mobile. Single males tended to move out of the profession altogether, while married male job changers more frequently aspired to higher level and better paid counseling or administrative positions within education. Single women tended to leave teaching more frequently than did married women. For both categories of women, change usually meant moving "out" instead of "up." The researchers also concluded that as teachers invested more time and energy in acquiring advanced degrees, they were less likely to change professions. However, increased education and professionalization of teachers frequently resulted in intensified conflicts with principals and other administrators, a less harmonious/less satisfying work situation, and an increased willingness by teachers to consider a career change.

Interrelationships Among Variables

Teacher retention has long been of concern because it represents instability in the teaching force and raises the prospect of shortages of qualified replacement teachers. Many theories have tried to pinpoint the reasons teachers leave the profession after working so hard to reach their goal. Several predictors, such as gender and ethnicity, have been reported to be associated with turnover in several studies using state data, but more recent studies with national data have not found evidence that these variables are

related to teacher turnover. Perhaps the most reliable predictor of teacher attrition has been age, with markedly higher rates of attrition reported for both younger teachers, who are leaving the profession at an alarming rate, and older teachers, who are leaving the profession due to retirement (Boe, Bobbitt & Cook, 1997).

Various studies have produced inconsistent findings on the association between the level of teacher certification (regular versus emergency permit) and teacher retention. In contrast, there is considerable evidence that inexperienced teachers were more likely than experienced teachers to leave teaching. In addition, several studies have shown that teachers of high academic ability, as indicated by various test scores and grade point averages at time of graduation, were more likely to leave teaching than teachers of lower ability. Other research suggested, although findings have not been consistent, that there may be linkages between teacher education variables (degree level, degree field, type of teacher training) and teacher turnover (Boe, Bobbitt, & Cook, 1997).

Research by Boe, Bobbitt, and Cook (1997) concluded that higher levels of teacher attrition are characteristic of teachers who are less than 40 years old, who are relatively inexperienced, who earn low salaries, and who lack full certification in their main teaching assignments. They also concluded that a number of variables were not significantly related to teacher attrition, including gender, race/ethnicity, level of highest degree earned, school size, community type, and region of the nation, which the researchers point out should at least temper alarms that are occasionally sounded about the supposed disproportionate loss of male teachers, minority teachers, better educated teachers, and teachers from urban districts.

A desire to help students is not enough for a teacher to remain in the profession. Each year, teachers leave teaching for many reasons. According to Colbert and Wolff (1992), more than 50% of all newly hired teachers leave the profession within five years. Research indicates that the main reasons are dissatisfaction with teaching as a career, specifically inadequate administrative support; devaluing teachers' voices; worsening social conditions; stress and burnout; and money (Natale, 1993).

Many teachers believe school administration to be more detrimental than helpful to the business of teaching, and deficient in two ways: 1) lack of support for the craft of teaching, and 2) lack of support for the teaching profession. The first deficiency is a school-level problem where teachers don't always have people in the building willing or able to address individual students' special needs so the teacher can concentrate on the academic needs of all students in the classroom. The second deficiency is a problem at the district level and beyond – the prevailing perception that teaching and the purposes it serves are not important (Natale, 1993).

Teachers become frustrated when their work is devalued and their qualifications to make decisions about what is best for students are ignored. It is important for teachers to be treated and seen as professionals. The persistent push by legislators for national standards and national tests indicates emphasis is still strong for decision-making outside individual classrooms and schools. Teachers' voices are silent in policymaking. According to the 1993 Metropolitan Life Survey of the American Teacher, 57% of the teachers surveyed say too little decision-making rests with local schools (Natale, 1993).

Social conditions that affect children also affect teaching and have a bearing on some teachers' decisions to leave the profession. In the past, people went into teaching to address academic and intellectual needs. Current problems are different and have caused a lot of dysfunction in public education. According to a National Center for Educational Statistics (NCES) survey, nearly 18% of those teachers who said career dissatisfaction had something to do with their decision to leave the profession cited poor student motivation to learn as the main reason. The Metropolitan Life Survey of the American Teacher supported the findings and also found new teacher optimism fading. Before they began teaching, 28% of the teachers who were surveyed agreed children came to school with problems that effected their ability to learn; after completing one year of teaching the percentage rose to 47; and after two years of teaching, 50% felt that way. Nearly onefifth of the teachers in the survey with two years of teaching experience indicated they would be leaving the teaching profession within five years (Natale, 1993).

The stress of dealing with children with so many problems and the lack of administrative support resulted in burnout, a factor to which teachers attribute their feelings of powerlessness and alienation. Research had found that teachers were being trained for the 1930s school while experiencing 1990s students and society (Natale, 1993). The rising incidence of school violence has also contributed to teacher stress and burnout. According to Mike Allen, an 18-year veteran of the Oklahoma City Schools and president of the Oklahoma City Federation of Teachers, teachers walk into classrooms everyday not knowing who has the guns and knives.

The way teachers are paid is another contributing factor of teacher retention. The teaching profession does little to offer the opportunity for financial and professional growth. Rewards such as raises, new responsibilities, encouragement to try a fresh approach with a difficult student, and acknowledging and trusting a teacher's insight and

value are few and far between. Many teachers are driven from the profession in search of higher salaries. In a 1992 Metropolitan Life Survey of the American Teacher, 29% of the new teachers surveyed who said they were thinking of leaving the profession sited the major reason was a desire or need for more money. Money contributes to the way people perceive the teaching profession and their ability to earn a living. Attracting and retaining the most intellectually engaged and socially connected people for the teaching profession requires them to be able to see an economically viable future (Natale, 1993).

The most important rewards for teachers will be intrinsic. As schools become more complex and as students become more challenging to teach, good teachers will demand more from their profession, their administrators, the legislature and the public. Failing to have their demands and requests met will result in good teachers leaving the profession. These losses will be measured every time a student misses an opportunity to learn (Natale, 1993).

Summary of the Literature Review

Teaching is a relatively large occupation representing 4% of the entire civilian workforce. According to the Statistical Abstract of 1998, there were over twice as many K-12 teachers as registered nurses and five times as many teachers as either lawyers or professors. Also, the rate of turnover of teachers appeared to be higher than in many other occupations and was a sizable phenomenon: in 1994-95, over 417,000 teachers from a force of about 3 million departed their teaching jobs (Ingersoll, 1997).

This review of the literature on teacher retention, state-mandated teacher certification examinations, teacher education programs, ethnicity, standardized test

scores, and age and gender as related to long-term employment in public education, revealed a need for continued research in these areas. The sheer number of studies that dealt with teacher retention and attrition indicated their importance. However, studies measuring the relationship between teacher retention and scores on state-mandated teacher certification examinations continue to produce inconclusive and, at times, incompatible results. Even though research by Schlechty and Vance (1981) and the Texas Education Agency in their 1995 report Texas Teacher Retention, Mobility, and Attrition stated that a longitudinal study of teachers in North Carolina showed a strong positive relationship between high test scores on the National Teachers Examination and the likelihood of leaving the profession, the TEA report went on to say that in contrast, certified Texas teachers in 1988-89 with higher scores on the ExCET were no more likely to leave the profession in their first five years of teaching than were teachers who had average or lower scores. Certified teachers are in short supply and highly sought after in many school districts around the country. Retention of current faculty is one solution to this crisis. It is, therefore, prudent to identify those factors that predict faculty turnover and attrition and to take steps to alleviate them.

CHAPTER 3

Method of Procedure

This chapter describes the participants, instrument, collection and treatment of data, and the statistical analysis design used in this study. The investigation was concerned with the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: Professional Development Examination for the Certification of Educators in Texas (PD ExCET) scores, Texas Academic Skills Program (TASP) reading scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, ethnicity, completion of a field-based teacher education program or emergency permit teacher education program, gender, and undergraduate grade point average.

Research Questions

The following research questions guided the study.

- What are the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average) of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and chose to enter the teaching profession?
- 2. What are the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average) of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and chose not to enter the teaching profession?

- 3. What are the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, undergraduate grade point average) of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and returned to the profession for a second year?
- 4. What are the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, undergraduate grade point average) of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and chose not to return to the profession for a second year?
- 5. What is the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: PD ExCET scores, TASP reading scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, ethnicity, completion of a field-based teacher education program or emergency permit teacher education program, gender, and undergraduate grade point average?

Participants

From the database at the ExCET Office on the campus of a single Texas seniorlevel university, 503 students who had passed the Professional Development (PD) Examination for Certification of Educators in Texas (ExCET) between September 1, 1996 and August 30, 2000 were identified. Only those students who successfully completed one of the teacher education programs, obtained a passing score (70+) on the PD ExCET between September 1, 1996 and August 30, 2000, and secured a teaching contract at a Texas public school district for at least two consecutive years were used in the study. Those students who successfully completed one of the teacher education programs, obtained a passing score (70+) on the PD ExCET between September 1, 1996 and August 30, 2000, but never taught in a Texas public school district were included in the descriptive statistics, but were gleaned from the database for final analysis of the data. An additional group of participants were included in the descriptive statistics, but were removed from the database before the final analysis of the data because they were hired to teach in a Texas public school in the year 2001 or 2002 so they did not have an opportunity to complete two consecutive years of teaching when this research was conducted.

Instrumentation

<u>Overview and Purpose</u>. Texas is committed to maintaining a teaching force that will produce enhanced student achievement and meet the changing roles and expectations of professional educators in the dynamic and diverse society of our state. Teacher assessments must ensure that teachers can demonstrate higher-order thinking; that the purposes of instruction relate to real-world outcomes; and that the interdisciplinary nature of the curriculum, rather than isolated skills and knowledge, is the focus of instruction. Teachers must be prepared to use new technologies so that students will be prepared to enter a high-tech world as they leave the school system. Today's teachers must demonstrate flexibility and creativity in solving the problems they face in their classrooms. The teaching role is expanded to communicating within the larger school organization and local community. To this end, the ExCET tests measured an individual's preparedness to deal with changing roles and expectations that teachers face in Texas public schools. The ExCET program was designed to assess subject-matter knowledge and professional knowledge required of entry-level educators, rather than knowledge gained through professional experience on the job. All the tests in the ExCET program are criterion referenced; that is, they are designed to measure knowledge in relation to an established standard of competence (criterion) rather than in relation to the performance of other candidates. The explicit purpose of the ExCET program was to help identify those candidates who have demonstrated the level of professional and subjectmatter knowledge required to perform satisfactorily in their teaching field (State Board of Educator Certification, 2002).

The instrument used for this study was the Professional Development (PD) Examination for Certification of Educators in Texas (ExCET). The test is made up of criterion-referenced multiple-choice questions developed around an established set of domains and competencies. Each content area to be tested is defined by a set of competencies written to correspond to state curriculum guidelines, curriculum materials, and current research on teaching practices. Committees of Texas educators reviewed each competency to ensure that it was appropriate for its certification area. Then a sample of practicing Texas educators participated in a job analysis survey to judge the importance of each competency in relation to the job of a teacher in Texas public schools. Test questions were written to correspond to the competencies. Texas educators reviewed each test question for accuracy of content and elimination of potential bias, and the resulting questions field tested to ensure that they were fair, valid measures of the competencies (State Board of Educator Certification, 2002).

According to the *ExCET Preparation Manual*, there are four types of multiplechoice items: 1) Single Items, 2) Correct Response Set Items, 3) Items with Stimulus

Material, 4) Clustered Items. Single Items are defined as direct questions or incomplete statements that require one answer. Correct Response Set Items are defined as questions that require a set of answers. The questions are geared to emulate a real world situation in which the teacher will be faced with a set of options and will have to choose the best answers among the appropriate options. Items with Stimulus Material are defined as questions that are preceded by some stimulus material (teacher notes, samples of student work, etc.), that require analysis, problem solving, or decision-making. The questions are geared to assess the ability to understand educational contexts and perform as a teacher may perform in various situations. Clustered Items are defined as questions that require the best answer among one or several appropriate options. The questions are organized so that students must demonstrate an understanding of multiple competencies that can be met in any given activity (State Board of Educator Certification, 2002).

The PD ExCET is divided into three domains. A set of competencies defines each domain. Each competency has two major parts – the *competency statement*, which broadly defines the content that an entry-level educator needs to know (this includes a brief topic statement which is underlined), and the *descriptive statement*, which describes in greater detail the types of knowledge and skills covered by the competency (Simonsson & Poelzer, 2000).

The three domains of the PD ExCET are: Understanding Learners – 5 competencies, 33% of the test; Enhancing Student Achievement – 6 competencies, 40% of the test; and Understanding the Teaching Environment – 4 competencies, 27% of the test (Simonsson & Poelzer, 2000).

Reliability and Validity. The ExCET test was the result of a careful process designed to create a valid assessment that produced reliable results for each examinee. The most critical element in the process was the involvement of Texas public school and university educators. The content to be assessed was defined by a set of competencies based on current curriculum guidelines, curriculum materials, input from content-area specialists, and current research on educational practices. Committees of Texas educators participated in the development of the competencies to ensure that they accurately reflected the needs of the job. Then educators from across the state participated in a job analysis survey in which they judged the importance of each competency relative to their specific jobs. Test questions were written to correspond to the validated competencies. Using specific criteria, a committee of Texas educators reviewed each ExCET test question for accuracy of content and fairness to all examinees. Additionally, questions were field tested to ensure that they were reliable, valid measures of the competencies (State Board of Educator Certification, 2002).

<u>Characteristics of the ExCET Tests</u>. According to the State Board of Educator Certification (2002), it is necessary to pass one content area test and one professional knowledge test to earn teacher certification in Texas. The ExCET program includes two professional development tests – one for elementary certification (K-8), and one for secondary certification (7-12).

• The ExCET tests reflect the educator proficiencies as described in *Learner-Centered Schools for Texas: A Vision of Texas Educators.* These proficiencies were adopted by the State Board for Educator Certification to guide teacher education, assessment, and certification.

- Each ExCET test is designed to assess content and professional knowledge required of entry-level educators rather than knowledge gained through professional experience on the job.
- Each ExCET test is criterion-referenced; that is, it is designed to measure understanding and skills in relation to an established standard of competence (criterion) rather than in relation to the performance of other candidates. The State Board for Educator Certification established a passing score that reflects the minimum knowledge required to practice in Texas public schools.
- Most of the ExCET tests consist solely of selected response, or multiple choice, questions. A few of the ExCET tests contain constructed response, or essay-type, questions.

Collection of the Data

All data were collected from the databases located in the ExCET Office and the Office of Planning and Institutional Research at a single Texas senior-level university; and at the State Board of Educator Certification (SBEC), a department of the Texas Education Agency (TEA). Data were collected as follows:

 The researcher requested from the ExCET office a list of students who had successfully passed the PD ExCET with a score of 70% or better between September 1, 1996 and August 30, 2000. Additional information requested included age at time of testing, gender, ethnicity, and type of certification program completed.

- 2. The Office of Planning and Institutional Research received a copy of the data file from the ExCET office, added TASP reading scores and undergraduate grade point averages to the data set, and returned the data file to the ExCET office.
- 3. The State Board of Educator Certification also received a copy of the data file from the ExCET office along with a request to match the names in the data file to public school teaching assignments from 1996 to 2002.
- 4. SBEC returned the expanded data file to the ExCET office.
- 5. When the data sets were returned to the ExCET office from the Office of Planning and Institutional Research and SBEC, the two lists were merged together and all identifying information (names and social security numbers) was removed.
- 6. The ExCET office electronically forwarded the final data file to the researcher.

Treatment of the Data

From the database at the ExCET Office on the campus of a single Texas seniorlevel university, 503 students who had passed the Professional Development (PD) Examination for Certification of Educators in Texas (ExCET) between September 1, 1996 and August 30, 2000 were identified. Data from the ExCET office were compared to the data from SBEC to determine those students who passed the ExCET test, obtained Texas teacher certification, and were subsequentially hired to teach in a Texas public school. Four separate data sets were constructed to answer each of the research questions: (1) PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based education program and chose to enter the teaching profession, (2) PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based education program and chose not to enter the teaching profession, (3) PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based education program and returned to the profession for a second year, and (4) PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based education program and chose not to return to the profession for a second year.

To answer research question number five, an attempt was made to develop a logistic regression equation predicting teacher retention in Texas public schools in relationship to each of the following variables: PD ExCET scores, TASP reading scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, ethnicity, completion of a field-based teacher education program or emergency permit teacher education program, gender, and undergraduate grade point average. Logistic regression looks at the relationship between the variables of interest as the core focus of the analysis and uses the concept of the odds ratio as its measure of association (Woldbeck, 1998). The purpose of this type of analysis is to find the best-fitting model to describe the relationship between an outcome variable and a set of independent variables (Westing & Whitten, 1996). An acceptable overall model could not be developed.

Summary

This chapter described the participants of the study. A description of the overview and purpose of the instrumentation was included, followed by an explanation of the reliability and validity of the instrument. The chapter concluded with comments regarding data collection, the treatment of the data, and the statistical analysis design used in this study. A narrative description and descriptive tables of the participants, findings, and analyses of the procedures are presented in Chapter 4.

CHAPTER 4

Presentation and Analysis of Data

The major purpose of this study, conducted during the spring and summer semesters of 2003, was to determine the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: Professional Development Examination for the Certification of Educators in Texas (PD ExCET) scores, Texas Academic Skills Program (TASP) reading scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, ethnicity, completion of a field-based teacher education program or emergency permit teacher education program, gender, and undergraduate grade point average. A point-biserial correlation coefficient was used to determine the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: PD ExCET scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, TASP reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average. A phi coefficient was used to determine the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: PD ExCET scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, TASP reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average. A phi coefficient was used to determine the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: ethnicity, teacher education program completed and gender. Trends and characteristics of the participants are included. The chapter concludes with a summary.

Participant Trends and Characteristics

From the database at the ExCET Office on the campus of a single Texas seniorlevel university, 503 students who had passed the Professional Development (PD) Examination for Certification of Educators in Texas (ExCET) between September 1, 1996 and August 30, 2000 were identified. Additional information obtained from the ExCET Office included age at time of testing, gender, ethnicity, and type of teacher

education program completed. Undergraduate grade point averages and TASP reading scores for the participants were obtained from the Office of Planning and Institutional Research at the same university, and place and length of employment in Texas public schools were obtained from the State Board of Educator Certification.

The average age of the 503 participants was 29.38, with a range from 21 through 66. The participants were relatively evenly divided by gender, with 49.1% females and 50.9% males. The majority of the participants, 88.9%, were non-minority, with the remaining 11% minority. Slightly more than 53% of the participants completed the field-based teacher education program, while the remainder, 46.5%, completing the emergency permit teacher education program. PD ExCET scores ranged from a high of 96 to a low of 70 (lowest possible passing score), with an average score of 79. TASP reading scores ranged from 300 (the highest possible score) to 222, with an average score of 270. Undergraduate grade point averages ranged from a high of 4.0 to a low of 1.58, with a mean score of 3.30. Characteristics of the entire sample of 503 identified participants are shown in Table 1.

Table 1

Variable	N=503	Mean	SD
PD ExCET score		79	6.311
Age		29	7.634
TASP reading score		270	18.166
Undergraduate GPA		3.30	.444

Select Descriptive Statistics for All Study Participants

Twenty-nine (6%) of the identified participants were removed from the database because they did not teach in a Texas public school during the years covered by this research. The age range of this group of participants was from 21 to 66, with an average age of 31. Of those 29, 14 were male and 15 were female. The ethnic breakdown was 97% non-minority, and 3% minority. Slightly more than 62% completed the field-based teacher education program while 37.9% completed the emergency permit teacher education program. Professional Development ExCET scores ranged from a high of 92 to a low of 70, with an average score of 79. TASP reading scores ranged from 297 to 222, with an average score of 266. Undergraduate grade point averages ranged from a high of 4.0 to a low of 2.5, with a mean score of 3.3. Characteristics of the 29 non-teachers are shown in Table 2.

Table 2

N=29	Mean	SD
	79	7.04
	31	9.68
	266	19.07
	3.31	.3134
	N=29	N=29 Mean 79 31 266 3.31

Select Descriptive Statistics for all Non-teachers

An additional 56 (11%) participants were removed from the database because they were hired to teach in a Texas public school in the year 2001 and 2002, therefore they did not have an opportunity to complete two consecutive years of teaching when this research was conducted. The age range of this group of participants was from 22 to 49, with an average age of 28. Of those 56, 31 were male and 25 were female. The ethnic breakdown was 87.5% non-minority, and 12.5% minority. Exactly half (28) of this group completed the field-based teacher education program, while the other half (28) completed the emergency permit teacher education program. Professional Development ExCET scores ranged from a high of 96 to a low of 70 with an average score of 78. TASP reading scores ranged from 300 to 226, with an average score of 269. Undergraduate grade point averages ranged from a high of 4.0 to a low of 2.68, with a mean score of 3.33. Characteristics of the 56 participants who completed all certification requirements and entered the teaching profession in a Texas public school in the year 2001 and 2002 are shown in Table 3.

Table 3

Select Descriptive Statistics for 2001-2002 Hires

Variable	N=56	Mean	SD
PD ExCET score		78	6.76
Age		28	6.43
TASP reading score		269	19.68
Undergraduate GPA		3.33	.3425

Of the remaining 418 participants who completed all certification requirements and were hired to teach in a Texas public school, 30 left the profession before they completed two consecutive years of teaching. This group was coded as "leavers". The age range was from 22 to 60, with an average age of 29. Of those 30, 18 were male and 12 were female. The ethnic breakdown was 93% non-minority, and 7% minority. Slightly more than 57% completed the field-based teacher education program while 43% completed the emergency permit teacher education program. Professional Development ExCET scores ranged from a high of 91 to a low of 71, with an average score of 79. TASP reading scores ranged from 300 to 238, with an average score of 271.
Undergraduate grade point averages ranged from a high of 4.0 to a low of 2.39, with a mean score of 3.15. Characteristics of the "leavers" are shown in Table 4.

Table 4

Select De	scriptive S	statistics of	Teachers	Not Retur	ning for a	Second Year
	······				0	

Variable	N=30	Mean	SD
PD ExCET score		79	5.184
Age		29	8.766
TASP reading score		271	14.631
Undergraduate GPA		3.15	.44018

The remaining 388 participants were coded as "stayers" because they completed two or more consecutive years as a teacher in a Texas public school. The age range of this group was from 21 to 59, with an average age of 30. Of those 388, 193 were male and 195 were female. The ethnic breakdown was 88% non-minority and 12% minority. Slightly more than 52% completed the field-based teacher education program while 47% completed the emergency permit teacher education program. Professional Development ExCET scores ranged from a high of 96 to a low of 70, with an average score of 79. TASP reading scores ranged from 300 to 224, with an average score of 270. Undergraduate grade point averages ranged from a high of 4.0 to a low of 1.6, with a mean score of 3.31. Characteristics of the sample of the 388 "stayers" are shown in Table 5.

Table 5

Select Descriptive Statistics for Retained Teachers

Variable	N=388	Mean	SD
PD ExCET score		79	6.280
Age		30	7.555
TASP reading score		270	18.136
Undergraduate GPA		3.31	.46359

Tables 6 through 8 clarify and further breakdown the general demographics of the total number of participants in the study (n=503). Table 6 shows the number and percentage of participants by gender, Table 7 shows the number and percentage of participants by type of teacher education program, and Table 8 shows number and percentage of participants by ethnicity.

	Total	Percentage
Characteristic	Number	of Participants
Female	247	49.1
Male	256	50.9

Number and Percentage of Participants by Gender

Table 7

Number and Percentage of Participants by Type of Teacher Education Program

	_	
	Total	Percentage
Characteristic	Number	of Participants
		- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Emergency Permit TE program	234	46.5
Field-based TE program	269	53.5

<u> </u>	Total	Percentage
Characteristic	Number	of Participants
Minority	56	11.0
Mon-minority	447	88.9

Number and Percentage of Participants by Ethnicity

Table 9 and Table 10 describe the breakdown of the total number of participants in the study (n=503) by gender. Table 9 shows the number and percentage of ethnicity by gender and Table 10 shows the number and percentage of type of teacher education program by gender.

Table 9

Number and Percentage of Ethnicity by Gender

	Female (247)		Male (256)	
Ethnicity	#	%	#	%
Minority	35	14.2	21	82
Non-minority	212	85.8	235	91.8

Teacher Education	Female (247)		Male	(256)
Program	#	%	#	%
Field-based (student teaching)	133	53.8	136	53.1
Emergency Permit	114	46.2	120	46.9

Number and Percentage of Type of Teacher Education Program by Gender

Tables 11 through 13 include the descriptive characteristics of the 29 participants who passed the PD ExCET but chose not to enter the teaching profession. Table 11 shows the number and percentage of non-teaching participants by gender. Table 12 shows the number and percentage of non-teaching participants by type of teacher education program. Table 13 shows the number and percentage of non-teaching participants by type of non-teaching participants by ethnicity.

Table 11

	Total	Percentage
Characteristic	Number	of Participants
		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
Female	15	51.7
Male	14	48.3

Number and Percentage of Non-teaching Participants by Gender

Number and Percentage of Non-teaching Participants by Type of Teacher Education

Program

*****	Total	Percentage
Characteristic	Number	of Participants
Emergency Permit TE program	11	37.9
Field-based TE program	18	62.1

Table 13

Number and Percentage of Non-teaching Participants by Ethnicity

	Total	Percentage
Characteristic	Number	of Participants
* ,,		
Minority	1	3.4
Non-minority	28	96.6

Table 14 and Table 15 describe the breakdown by gender of the 29 participants who passed the PD ExCET but chose not to enter the teaching profession. Table 14 shows the number and percentage of non-teaching participants by ethnicity and Table 15 shows the

number and percentage of non-teaching participants by type of teacher education program.

Table 14

Number and Percentage of Non-teaching Participants by Ethnicity by Gender

	Fema	Female		Male	
Ethnicity	#	%	#	%	
Minority	1	6.7	0	0	
Non-Minority	14 93	3.3	14	100	
11011-11IIIOIIty	14).	<i></i>	14	100	

Table 15

Number and Percentage of Non-teaching Participants by Type of Teacher Education

Program by Gender

Teacher Education	Fer	male	Mal	8	
Program	#	%	#	%	
Field-based (student teaching)	8	53.3	10	71.4	
Emergency Permit	7	46.7	4	28.6	

Research Questions

The following research questions guided the study.

 What are the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average) of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and chose to enter the teaching profession?

The total number of PD ExCET successful students who completed the fieldbased teacher education program and chose to enter the teaching profession was 251. There were 125 males and 126 females in this group. Almost 91% were non-minority, with only 9% representing minority groups. Table 16 shows the descriptive statistics of this group for the following variables: PD ExCET scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, TASP reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average.

Table 16

Select Descriptive Statistics for PD ExCET Successful Students Who Completed the Field-based Teacher Education Program and Entered the Teaching Profession

Variable	N=251	Mean	SD
		70	5.50
PD EXCE1 score		/8	5.59
Age		28	7.24
TASP reading score		269	18.21
Undergraduate GPA		3.30	.4384

2. What are the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average) of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and chose not to enter the teaching profession?

The total number of PD ExCET successful students who completed the fieldbased teacher education program and chose not to enter the teaching profession was 18. There were 10 males and 8 females in this group. Almost 94% (17) were non-minority, with only one person representing a minority group. Table 17 shows the descriptive statistics of this group for the following variables: PD ExCET scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, TASP reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average.

Table 17

Select Descriptive Statistics for PD ExCET Successful Students Who Completed The Field-Based Teacher Education Program And Did Not Enter The Teaching Profession

Variable	N=18	Mean	SD ,
PD ExCET score		78	6.21
Age		28	6.87
TASP reading score		261	17.56
Undergraduate GPA		3.38	.2047

3. What are the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, undergraduate grade point average) of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and returned to the profession for a second year?

The total number of PD ExCET successful students who completed the fieldbased teacher education program and returned to the profession for a second year was 244. There were 122 males and 122 females in this group. Almost 91% were nonminority, with 9% representing minority groups. Table 18 shows the descriptive statistics of this group for the following variables: PD ExCET scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, TASP reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average.

Table 18

Select Descriptive Statistics for PD ExCET Successful Students Who Completed The Field-Based Teacher Education Program And Returned for a Second Year

Variable	N=244	Mean	SD
			· · · ·
PD ExCET score		78	5.94
Age		28	7.30
TASP reading score		269	18.23
Undergraduate GPA		3.29	.4385

4. What are the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, undergraduate grade point average) of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and chose not to return to the profession for a second year?

The total number of PD ExCET successful students who completed the fieldbased teacher education program and chose not to return to the profession for a second year was 7. There were 4 males and 3 females in this group. Six were non-minority, with only one person representing minority group. Table 19 shows the descriptive statistics of this group for the following variables: PD ExCET scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, TASP reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average.

Table 19

Select Descriptive Statistics for PD ExCET Successful Students Who Completed The Field-Based Teacher Education Program and Chose Not to Return for a Second Year

Variable	N=7	Mean	SD
PD ExCET score		80	6.65
Age		24	3.08
TASP reading score		273	18.58
Undergraduate GPA		3.46	.4330

5. What is the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: PD ExCET scores, TASP reading scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, ethnicity, completion of a field-based teacher education program or emergency permit teacher education program, gender, and undergraduate grade point average?

Research questions number five for this study examined the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: PD ExCET scores, TASP reading scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, ethnicity, completion of a field-based teacher education program or emergency permit teacher education program, gender, and undergraduate grade point average. A point-biserial correlation coefficient was conducted between the following variables to determine their relationship to teacher retention: PD ExCET scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, TASP reading scores and undergraduate grade point average. A phi coefficient was used to determine the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: ethnicity, teacher

The SPSS 11.5 program was used to analyze the relationship between the variables. Table 20 shows the correlations between teacher retention and PD ExCET scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, TASP reading scores and undergraduate grade point average. The final results indicated that there is not a relationship between the selected variables and teacher retention.

Variable	Point bi-serial	Significance (2-tailed)
PD ExCET score	022	.652
Age	.011	.830
TASP reading score	012	.799
Undergraduate GPA	.089	.068

Relationship Between Teacher Retention and Select Variables

The special case in which both variables are nominal dichotomous variables is called the phi coefficient (Jurs, 1998). Table 21 shows the crosstabulation results for the variables of ethnicity, gender, and type of teacher education program completed. The final results indicated that there is not a relationship between the identified variables and teacher retention.

Variable	Phi coefficient	Significance
Ethnicity	040	.410
TE program	018	.705
Gender	053	.279

Phi Coefficient Results for Select Variables and Teacher Retention

An attempt was made to develop a logistic regression equation predicting teacher retention. An acceptable overall model could not be developed because none of the selected variables entered the equation.

Summary

From the database at the ExCET Office at a single Texas senior-level university, 503 students who had passed the Professional Development (PD) Examination for Certification of Educators in Texas (ExCET) between September 1, 1996 and August 30, 2000 were identified.

Research question number one addressed the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average) of 251 PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and chose to enter the teaching profession. There were 125

males and 126 females in this group. Almost 91% were non-minority, with only 9% representing minority groups.

Research question number two addressed the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average) of 18 PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and chose not to enter the teaching profession. There were 10 males and 8 females in this group. Almost 94% (17) were non-minority, with only one person representing a minority group.

Research question number three addressed the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, undergraduate grade point average) of 244 PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and returned to the profession for a second year. There were 122 males and 122 females in this group. Almost 91% were non-minority, with 9% representing minority groups.

Research question number four addressed the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, undergraduate grade point average) of 7 PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and chose not to return to the profession for a second year. There were 4 males and 3 females in this group. Six were non-minority, with only one person representing minority group.

Research Question 5 examined the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: PD ExCET scores, TASP reading scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, ethnicity, completion of a field-based teacher education program or

emergency permit teacher education program, gender, and undergraduate grade point average. For that purpose, an attempt was made to develop a logistic regression model since the dependent variable (stay/leave) was binary; however, none of the selected variables entered into the equation. An acceptable overall model could not be developed.

A point-biserial correlation coefficient was used to determine the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: PD ExCET scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, TASP reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average. A phi coefficient was used to determine the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: ethnicity, teacher education program completed, and gender. The results of the study show that there is no relationship between the selected variables (Professional Development Examination for the Certification of Educators in Texas scores, Texas Academic Skills Program reading scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, ethnicity, completion of a field-based teacher education program or emergency permit teacher education program, gender, and undergraduate grade point average) and teacher retention.

CHAPTER 5

Summary, Findings, Conclusions, Implications, and Recommendations for Further Research

This chapter presents a summary of the investigation, a discussion, and the findings and conclusions. Included are implications for practice. The chapter concludes with recommendations for further research.

<u>Summary</u>

When a certified teacher makes the decision to leave the profession, it is rare that a single motivating factor can be identified. Research indicates that factors useful in the prediction of teacher attrition do exist (Boe, Bobbitt & Cook, 1997; Brubaker, 1976; Chapman & Green, 1986; Cohen, 1990; Colbert & Wolff, 1992; Grissmer & Kirby, 1993; Hare & Nathan, 1999; Ingersoll, 1997; Jorissen, 2002; Marshall & Marshall, 2003; Miller, Brownell, & Smith, 1995; Natale, 1993; Patrick, 2000; Pigge & Marso, 1996; Ruhland, 2001; Schlechty & Vance, 1981; Schlechty & Vance, 1983; Stottlemyer, Reinhardt-Mondragon, & Eberhard, 2000; Texas Education Agency, Austin Division of Policy Planning and Evaluation, 1995; Westling & Whitten, 1996). The current teacher attrition rate combined with the current teacher shortage, especially in high needs areas, and the national emphasis on education excellence creates a need for public school administrators and college and university teacher education program administrators to identify those aspects of a teacher's job which predict the inclination to leave the profession in an effort to retain certified teachers.

Discussion

The overall purpose of this investigation was to determine the relationship between teacher retention and the following variables: Professional Development Examination for the Certification of Educators in Texas (PD ExCET) scores, Texas Academic Skills Program (TASP) reading scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, ethnicity, completion of a field-based teacher education program or emergency permit teacher education program, gender, and undergraduate grade point average. The study was conducted during the spring and summer of 2003.

From the database at the ExCET Office of a single Texas senior-level university, 503 students who had passed the PD ExCET between September 1, 1996 and August 30, 2000 were identified. The ExCET Office also supplied the names, social security numbers, PD ExCET passing scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, ethnicity, gender, and type of teacher education program completed for each of the identified participants. The ExCET Office forwarded electronically the data set to the Office of Institutional Research at the university where TASP reading scores and undergraduate grade point averages were added to the master list. The master list was also forwarded electronically to SBEC where public school teaching assignments for each identified participant for the years covered in the study were added and the list was returned to the ExCET office. The two lists were merged together and all identifying markers were removed from the list before being sent to the researcher.

Before final analyses were conducted, two groups of identified participants were removed from the database: 1) 29 because they did not teach in a Texas public school during the years covered by the study, and 2) 56 because they were hired to teach in a

Texas public school in the year 2001 or 2002 so they did not have an opportunity to complete two consecutive years of teaching when this research was completed.

Findings

A number of results from previous studies have been confirmed in this study. The selected variables (PD ExCET scores, age at time of passing a certification test, gender, ethnicity, type of teacher education program completed, undergraduate grade point averages and TASP reading scores) were not predictors of teacher retention.

- The passing score of the PD ExCET was not a significant predictor of teacher retention. Participants who taught at least two years in a Texas public school (n=388) had PD ExCET scores that ranged from 96 to 70, with a mean of 79. The participants who taught less than two consecutive years or who never taught in a Texas public school (n=59) had PD ExCET scores that ranged form 70 to 96, with a mean of 78.
- 2. The age at time of passing the PD ExCET was not a significant predictor of teacher retention. The mean age of the participants who taught at least two years in a Texas public school was 30, with a range from 21 through 60. The mean age of the participants who taught less than two consecutive years or who never taught in a Texas public school was 29.76, with a range from 22 through 66.
- 3. The gender of the participants was not a significant predictor of teacher retention. Of the participants who taught in a Texas public school at least two years, 50% were female and 50% were male. Of the participants who taught less than three

consecutive years or who never taught in a Texas public school, 49.7% were female and 50.3% were male.

- 4. The ethnicity of the participants was not a significant predictor of teacher retention. Of the participants who taught in a Texas public school at least two years, 88% were non-minority, and 12% were minority. Of the participants who taught less than two consecutive years or who never taught in a Texas public school, 86.3% were non-minority and 13.7% were minority.
- 5. The type of teacher education program completed was not a significant predictor of teacher retention. Of the participants who taught in a Texas public school at least two years, 53% completed the field-based teacher education program and 47% completed the emergency permit teacher education program. Of the participants who taught less than two consecutive years or who never taught in a Texas public school, 52.7% completed the field-based teacher education program and 47.3% completed the emergency permit teacher education program.
- 6. TASP reading scores was not a significant predictor of teacher retention. Of the participants who taught in a Texas public school at least two years, TASP reading scores ranged from 300 to 224, with an average score of 270. Of the participants who taught less than two consecutive years or who never taught in a Texas public school, TASP reading scores ranged from 225 to 300, with an average score of 270.
- Undergraduate grade point average was not a significant predictor of teacher retention. Of the participants who taught in a Texas public school at least two years, undergraduate grade point averages ranged from 4.00 to 1.58, with a mean

of 3.31. Of the participants who taught less than three consecutive years or who never taught in a Texas public school, undergraduate grade point averages ranged from 1.58 to 4.00, with a mean of 3.29.

Five research questions were formulated for the study. The first research question examined the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average) of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and chose to enter the teaching profession. The second research question examined the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, and undergraduate grade point average) of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and chose not to enter the teaching profession. The third research question examined the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, undergraduate grade point average) of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and returned to the profession for a second year. The fourth research question examined the descriptive characteristics (PD ExCET scores, age, gender, ethnicity, TASP Reading scores, undergraduate grade point average) of PD ExCET successful students who completed the field-based teacher education program and chose not to return to the profession for a second year. The fifth research question examined the relationship between the following variables and teacher retention: PD ExCET scores, TASP reading scores, age at time of passing the PD ExCET, ethnicity, completion of a field-based teacher education program or emergency permit teacher education program, gender, and undergraduate grade point average. The current study confirmed the absence of a

relationship between the selected variables and teacher retention as reported in the literature review. Table 22 shows a complete summary of the findings.

Table 22

Summary of Findings

	503	388	30	29	56
	Total	Stayers	Leavers	Non-teach	2001-2002
PD ExCET	79	79	79	79	78
Age	29	30	29	31	28
TASP	270	270	271	266	269
GPA	3.30	3.31	3.15	3.31	3.33
Gender	M-257	M-193	M-18	M-14	M-31
	F-246	F-195	F-12	F-15	F-25
Ethnicity	NM-89%	NM-88%	NM-93%	NM-97%	NM-88%
	M-11%	M-12%	M-7%	M-3%	M-12%
TE Program	FB-53%	FB-52%	FB-57%	FB-62%	FB-50%
	EP-47%	EP-47%	EP-43%	EP-38%	EP-50%

As shown in Table 22, all the groups had the same average PD ExCET score, except the 56 participants who were hired to teach in a Texas public school in the year 2001 or 2002 so they were removed from the final analyses because they did not have an opportunity to complete two consecutive years of teaching when this research was completed. However, their average PD ExCET score was only one point lower than all the other groups. This same group of 56 participants had the lowest average age and the highest undergraduate grade point average of all the groups. The group that completed all certification requirements but never taught in a Texas public school had the highest average age and the lowest average TASP score. The group that left the profession after only one year in the classroom had the highest average TASP score and the lowest undergraduate grade point average. The group that completed all certification requirements but never taught in a Texas public school also contained the highest percentage of non-minority participants, the lowest percentage of minority participants, the highest percentage of participants who completed the field-based teacher education program, and the lowest percentage of participants who completed the emergency permit teacher education program.

Conclusions

The need for research in this area was based on a comprehensive review of the literature. Studies found links between teacher retention and state-mandated teacher certification scores, standardized test scores, age, teacher education preparation programs, ethnicity, and gender (Anrig, Goertz, & Clark, 1986; Chambers, Munday, & Sienty, 1999; Cobb, Shaw, & Millard, 1999; Dobry, Murphy, & Schmidt, 1985; Dybdahl, Shaw, & Edwards, 1997; Flippo, 1986; Gifford, 1986; Goodison, 1986; Hillard, 1986; Ishler, 1985; Kauchak, 1984; Kopff & Watt, 1990; Madaus & Pullin, 1987; McTighe, 1997; Moore, Schurr, & Henriksen, 1991; Nance & Kinnison, 1988; Pisani, Pisani, & Anderson, 2002; Shepard & Kreitzer, 1987; Sibert, 1989; Simonsson & Poelzer, 2000; Simonsson & Poelzer, 2002; Villeme, 1982). This existing research was used to shape the design of the current study. According to research by Goodison (1986), there is no empirical relationship between basic competency test scores and actual job performance. Further research by Flippo (1986) indicated that rising test scores on certification tests are a direct result of the availability of questions, objectives and content because tests with known questions or content become less effective at screening the more they are administered. Research by Dybdahl, Shaw, and Edwards (1997) showed that there has been a lack of correlation between basic competency test scores and effectiveness in the classroom and that statemandated certification test scores were found to be weak predictors of actual classroom performance.

Although research by Chambers, Munday, and Sienty (1999) established a relationship between TASP reading scores and successful pass rates on the PD ExCET, there was no relationship identified between TASP reading scores and teacher retention. Further research by Moore, Schurr and Henriksen (1991) showed little evidence that standardized test scores provided useful information for predicting the teaching effectiveness of beginning teachers and whether they would remain in the profession.

Research upholds the theory that beginning teacher support must become a high priority for school districts and university teacher education programs by providing systematic support and assistance, and reducing feelings of isolation through cooperative team planning in order to reduce the attrition rate (Colbert & Wolff, 1992).

Age becomes a factor in a teacher's decision to stay or leave the teaching profession. Younger teachers have very high rates of departure, but the rate declines through the mid-career period and then rises again in the retirement years. Because the distribution of age in the teaching force is skewed upward – older teachers significantly

outnumber younger teachers – many analysts have concluded that retirement due to a rapidly graying teaching workforce is the most significant factor behind teacher attrition, teacher shortages, and school staffing problems (Ingersoll, 1997).

Job opportunities for minorities have opened up in career fields where salaries and future opportunities have exceeded those of teachers in classrooms. Traditionally, teaching had been one of the most attractive career options for minorities. The fact that the most able have many other choices is having an adverse affect on the quality of entrants into the teaching profession (Anrig, Doertx, & Clark, 1986).

Studies show that attrition differs markedly between men and women. Men have much lower rates at attrition than women. Two years after entry, 28% of men drop out as compared to almost 35% of women. By the fourth year, well over half of the women have left teaching at least once, while the corresponding number for men is only 43%. However, the differences are much smaller when permanent attrition is examined – only 2 to 3 percentage points. The conclusion is that women tend to drop out more frequently than men, but tend to return more frequently as well (Grissmer & Kirby, 1993). The most obvious reason is that women leave the profession to start/maintain a family and then return when their children are school age.

While research by Nance and Kinnison (1988), and Simonsson and Poelzer (2002) show that grade point averages are considered a predictor of success on state mandated teacher certification tests, according to research by Flaitz (1987); Evertson, Hawley, and Zlotnik (1985); and Dobry, Murphy, and Schmidt (1985), academic indicators have a poor track record in predicting teacher success and attrition. However, additional research by Dobry, Murphy, and Schmidt (1985) showed a significant relationship between grade point average and success on professional knowledge tests, and that grade point average may serve as a necessary condition for success in teaching. This positive correlation between grade point average and teacher effectiveness might be explained by the range restriction. Most teacher education programs require a student to attain a grade point average greater than some minimum value for admission to a program and to maintain a grade point average above some minimum value in order to continue in a program (Moore, Schurr, & Henriksen, 1991).

Research has shown that many of the variables used in this study can and do have an effect on standardized test scores, but there is no evidence or research to support that there is a relationship between the variables and teacher retention. Especially in the state of Texas, the Professional Development Examination for Teachers in Texas (PD ExCET) is a means to an end. Future teachers know they must pass the PD ExCET, as well as at least one content area test, in order to be certified to teach in a Texas public school. They will not get hired – and subsequently not get paid – unless they have the proper credentials needed for Texas teachers. Whether they remain in the profession depends on many things, including views of teacher preparation and training, and confidence in preparedness (Justice, Anderson, & Greiner, 2003).

Further research into why teachers leave the profession shows that the decision by current teachers is influenced by several factors including administrative and teacher-to-teacher support, especially during the first two years of teaching; paying in-school mentors; reducing in class-size, with a goal of 20-23 students per class; realistic monetary incentives based on achieving pre-determined academic standards; providing adequate teacher-training opportunities related to classroom management and teaching strategies;

and essential student discipline and school security guidelines with standards established and implemented within the district (Justice, Anderson, & Greiner, 2003).

Significant factors leading to teacher retention include adequate teacher preparation, positive pre-service experiences, and initial school placement. Research has shown that many problems encountered by first year teachers are reduced in direct proportion to sufficient teacher preparation (Glassberg, 1980; Taylor & Dale, 1971).

Implications for Practice

According to research by Grissmer and Kirby (1993), accurate measures of teacher attrition are needed to serve several important planning and policy objectives. First, attrition rates determine how many teachers need to be hired each year. Statistics show that generally over 70% of new teachers are hired to replace leaving teachers while only 30% are required to meet the needs of expanding enrollments, smaller class sizes, and new programs which makes it crucial for school districts to measure and predict attrition accurately. Evidence from the 1990-1991 School and Staffing Survey conducted by the National Center for Education Statistics shows that high rates of teacher attrition disrupt program continuity and planning, hinder student learning, and increase school districts' expenditures on recruiting and hiring (Shen, 1997).

The second important planning and policy objective listed by Grissmer and Kirby (1993) is that attrition rates, when accurately measured and interpreted, can provide good indicators of the relative adequacy of compensation levels and working conditions within the profession. Low salaries and poor working conditions are likely to lead to higher attrition and point to a need for corrective policies in these areas.

Third, differential patterns of attrition across subjects may point to the inadequacy of a uniform system of compensation. Without pay differentials to compensate those with highly marketable skills, school districts risk having high turnover among those teachers with perhaps a significant deterioration in the quality of teaching in certain areas (Grissmer & Kirby, 1993). The implications of Grissmer & Kirby's (1993) recommendations of the importance of measuring and monitoring teacher attrition can assist school district administrators in recruiting, hiring, training, and retaining teachers.

Research by Colbert and Wolff (1992) concluded that beginning teacher support must become a higher priority for school districts. This can be accomplished by training administrators and experienced teachers in classroom observation and peer coaching strategies with a collaborative effort between school districts and university schools of education. Second, creative and flexible scheduling is necessary to provide release time to peer coaches and beginners to provide opportunities to build trusting relationships that can contribute to increased career satisfaction and retention of beginning teachers. Third, experienced teachers need to be encouraged to participate in the professional growth of new teachers with added compensation that could include release time, additional instructional materials, university tuition costs and time to attend professional conferences. Fourth, university schools of education must collaborate with local school districts and welcome them as equal partners in the education business. University faculty in all disciplines should be highly visible in the public school classrooms so they are viewed as competent classroom teachers and not as ivory-tower professors out of contact with the real world of education. Fifth, collaboration between universities, school districts, state departments of education, and teacher credentialing commission must

continue to develop, regardless of whether external funding exists to support it. Before policy decisions are made affecting new teacher support, all constituencies involved must be included in the formation of policy. Finally, beginning teachers need structured, intensive, and ongoing support and assistance during the induction years.

Further analysis of the data provides implications regarding the current emphasis on state-mandated teacher certification tests and teacher retention. In addition, there are implications for future practice that may be of use to public school administrators. The findings of the study provide public school administrators and college and university administrators and educators with an indication of the importance of effective teacher education programs, effective public school mentoring programs, and the need for open communication between the two entities.

- Findings may be useful in designing programs to attract intermittent teachers into more continuous teaching in response to emerging teacher shortages (Chapman & Green, 1986).
- 2. Research indicates that teachers who stayed in the profession for several years before leaving tended not to have found either greater satisfaction or financial reward in the jobs into which they went. People who changed careers tended to fall behind both those who taught continuously and those who never entered teaching in their reward attainment. These findings have implications for the career advising of potential teacher education students (Chapman & Green, 1986).
- Principals who emphasize identity, competency and efficacy as the three main goals of the induction period for new teachers are likely to develop teachers who

believe in themselves and who are skilled at making a difference in the lives of young people. Principals who keep good teachers are those who provide an environment in which new teachers develop competence, gain a sense of efficacy, and take pride in being teachers (Jorissen, 2002).

- Influence administrator formulation of policies regarding accountability issues, faculty instructional strategies and content selection in the courses, and student performance on teacher certification tests (Simonsson & Poelzer, 2002).
- Knowledge and information on how to select or prepare students effectively for teacher certification is central in both higher education and school districts (Simonsson & Poelzer, 2002)

Recommendations for Further Study

Several areas for further research are suggested by this study and are listed below:

- Future research should include an in-depth study of the different teacher education programs completed by identified participants. Changes in the fieldbased teacher education program and the emergency permit program over the years included in the study could have made a difference in the preparation of the participants to be successful in their public school assignment. Findings would provide practical information for instructional administrators.
- Further investigation into the reason why some of the participants, who completed all requirements for state certification, chose not to enter the teaching field.
 Implementation of Chapman's Multi-factor Model to explain teacher recruitment and attrition could be used with this group (Chapman, 1984).

- Duplication of the study is recommended at other colleges or universities that offer teacher education programs to compare results with PD ExCET successful students.
- 4. Existing research literature suggests that attrition from teaching is influenced by a variety of factors that are probably best revealed by the study of longitudinal samples of teachers. A goal would be to test the general hypothesis that attrition from teacher preparation and the early teaching years does not necessarily reduce the quality of the remaining teaching pool (Pigge & Marso, 1996).

REFERENCES

- Anrig, G., Goertz, M., & Clark, R. (1986). Teacher competency testing: Realities of supply and demand in this period of educational reform. *Journal of Negro Education*, 55, 316-325.
- Bloland, P., & Selby, T. (1980). Factors associated with career change among secondary school teachers: A review of the literature. *Educational Research Quarterly*, 5, 13-24.
- Boe, E., Bobbitt, S., & Cook, L. (1997). Why didst thou go? Predictors of retention, transfer, and attrition of special and general education teachers from a national perspective. *Journal of Special Education*, 30, 390-411.
- Bolton, P. (1984). Teacher competency testing: Practices and perceptions in selected states in the nation. (Doctoral dissertation, University of North Texas, 1984). *Dissertation Abstracts International, A*, 45/11.
- Bradshaw, L. & Hawk, P. (1996). Teacher certification: Does it really make a difference in student achievement? Greenville: Eastern North Carolina Consortium for Assistance and Research in Education.
- Brubaker, H. (1976). Selection and retention in teacher education: A model. Teacher Educator, 12, 17-25.
- Chambers, S., Munday, R., & Sienty, S. (1999). Predictors of success on the Texas state certification tests for secondary teaching. *College Student Journal*, 33, 10-15.

- Chapman, D. (1984). Teacher retention: The test of a model. American Educational Research Journal, 21, 645-658.
- Chapman, D. & Green, M. (1986). Teacher retention: A further examination. Journal of Educational Research, 79, 273-279.
- Cobb, R., Shaw, R., & Millard, M. (1999). An examination of Colorado's teacher licensure testing. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 92, 161-175.
- Cohen, M. (1990, April). Teacher retention: A longitudinal comparison of those who teach and those who don't. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Boston, Massachusetts.
- Colbert, J. & Wolff, D. (1992). Surviving in urban schools: A collaborative model for a beginning teacher support system. *Journal of Teacher Education, 43,* 193-199.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (1996). What matters most: A competent teacher for every child. *Phi Delta Kappa International*. Retrieved September 20, 2000, from http://www.pdkintl.org
- Dobry, A., Murphy, P., & Schmidt, D. (1985). Predicting teacher competence. Action in Teacher Education, 7, 69-74.
- Drew, B. (2001). Teacher retention: A qualitative study of factors that influence African-American teachers' career decisions to remain in teaching. (Doctoral dissertation, University of Virginia, 2001). Dissertation Abstracts International, A, 62/06.
- Dybdahl, C., Shaw, D., & Edwards, D. (1997). Teacher testing: Reason or rhetoric. Journal of Research and Development in Education, 30, 248-254.

- Eggen, B. (2001). Teacher attrition in South Carolina public schools. (Doctoral dissertation, University of South Carolina, 2001). Dissertation Abstracts International, A, 62/05.
- ERIC Clearinghouse on Teacher Education. (1986). *Teacher certification*. Washington,
 DC: Educational Resources Information Center. (ERIC Document Reproduction
 No. ED 277685)
- Evertson, C., Hawley, W., & Zlotnik, M. (1985). Making a difference in educational quality through teacher education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *36*, 2-12.
- Flaitz, J. (1987, October). Non-academic indicators of teacher effectiveness A review of the literature. Paper presented at the Mid-South Educational Research Association, Mobile, AL.
- Flippo, R. (1986). Teacher certification testing: Perspectives and issues. Journal of Teacher Education, 37, 2-9.
- Gifford, B. (1986). Excellence and equity in teacher competency testing: A policy perspective. *Journal of Negro Education*, 55, 251-271.
- Glassberg, S. (1980, March). A view of the beginning teacher from a development perspective. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association. Boston, MA.
- Goodison, M. (1986, June). Pros and cons of paper and pencil tests for teacher
 assessment. Paper presented at the Annual Assessment and Policy Conference of
 the Education Commission of the States/Colorado Department of Education,
 Boulder, Colorado.

- Grissmer, D. & Kirby, S. (1993, July). Teacher attrition: Theory, evidence, and suggested policy options. Paper presented at the Seminar of the World
 Bank/Harvard Institute for International Development of Policies Affecting
 Learning Outcomes through Impacts on Teachers, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Hare, D. & Nathan, J. (1999). The need is now: Dealing with Minnesota's teacher shortages. Minneapolis: Center for School Change, Humphrey Institute, University of Minnesota.
- Hillard, A. (1986). From hurdles to standards of quality in teacher testing. Journal of Negro Education, 55, 304-315.
- Holland, J. (1973). Making vocational choices: A theory of careers. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Ingersoll, R. (1997, August). Teacher turnover, teacher shortages, and the organization of schools. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Sociological Association, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.
- Ishler, R. (1985). Teacher competency testing Texas style. Action in Teacher Education, 7, 27-30.
- Jorissen, K. (2002). 10 things a principal can do to retain teachers. *Principal Leadership*, 3, 48-54.
- Jurs, H. (1998). Applied statistics for the behavioral sciences. Fourth edition. Boston,M.A.: Houghton Mifflin Company.

- Justice, M., Anderson, S., & Greiner, C. (2003, February). Determining the factors that influence retention of teachers trained in a traditional field-based teacher education program vs. teachers trained in an emergency permit teacher education program. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Southwest Educational Research Association, San Antonio, Texas.
- Justice, M. & Hardy, J. (2001). Minority students and the examination for the certification of educators in Texas (ExCET), *Education*, 121, 592-596.
- Kauchak, D. (1984). Testing teachers in Louisiana: A closer look. Phi Delta Kappan, 65, 626-628.
- Kopff, C. & Watt, D. (1990). Teacher certification: Safeguard or superstition?*Colorado symposium*. Bolder: Independence Institute.
- Krumboltz, J. (1979). Social learning and career decision making. Cranston, RI: Carroll Press.
- Leibbrand, J. (2000). ETS study says strong teacher education programs should be emulated. Retrieved October 14, 2000, from http://www.ncate.org
- Madaus, G. & Pullin, D. (1987). Teacher certification tests: Do they really measure what we need to know? *Phi Delta Kappan*, 69, 31-38.
- Maricopa Advanced Technology Education Center. (2001). Definition of competency based curriculum. Retrieved August 28, 2001, from http://matec.org/curriculum/development/CompBased.htm
- Marshall, R. & Marshall, I. (2003, February). *Texas teacher attrition rate: Why are the teachers leaving and where are they going?* Paper presented at the Southwest Educational Research Association Annual Conference, San Antonio, Texas.
- McTighe, J. (1997). What happens between assessments? *Educational Leadership*, 54, 6-12.
- Miller, D., Brownell, M., & Smith, S. (1995, May). Retention and attrition in special education: analysis of variables that predict staying, transferring, or leaving.
 National Dissemination Forum on Issues Relating to Special Education Teacher Satisfaction, Retention, and Attrition, Washington, D.C.
- Moore, D., Schurr, K., & Henriksen, L. (1991). Correlations of national teacher examination core battery scores and college grade point average with teaching effectiveness of first-year teachers. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 51, 1023-1028.
- Murnane, R., Singer, J., & Willett, J. (1989). The influences of salaries and "opportunity posts" on teachers' career choices: Evidence from North Carolina. *Harvard Educational Review*, 59, 325-346.
- Nance, J. & Kinnison, L. (1988). An examination of ACT, PPST and ExCET performance of teacher education candidates. *Teacher Education & Practice*, 5, 25-30.
- Natale, J. (1993). Why teachers leave. Executive Educator, 15, 14-18.
- Patrick, W. (2000, December). Estimating first-year student attrition rates: and application of multilevel modeling using categorical variables. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Association for Institutional Research, Cincinnati, Ohio.

- Pigge, F. & Marso, R. (1996, April). Academic aptitude and ability characteristics of candidates teaching and not teaching five years after graduation. Paper presented at the Annual Conference of the American Educational Research Association, New York, NY.
- Pisani, C., Pisani, J., & Anderson, R. (2002). Predictors of success for the Texas ExCET exam in a predominately Hispanic university environment. *Teacher Education* and Practice, 15, 54-82.
- Price, D. (2003). Achieving the goal of a quality teacher. TACT The Quarterly Bulletin. Retrieved April 4, 2003, from http://www.tact.org/ebullmar03/.htm
- Roth, R. & Mastain, R. (1984). The NASDTEC Manual. National Association of State Directors of Teacher Education and Certification.
- Ruhland, S. (2001). Factors that influence the turnover and retention of Minnesota's technical college teachers. *Journal of Vocational Education Research*, 26, 56-76.
- Schlechty, P. & Vance, V. (1981). Do academically able teachers leave education? The North Carolina case. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 63, 106-112.
- Schlechty, P. & Vance, V. (1983). Recruitment, selection, and retention: The shape of the teaching force. *The Elementary School Journal*, 83, 469-487.
- Shen, J. (1997). Teacher retention and attrition in public schools: evidence from SASS91. The Journal of Educational Research, 91, 81-88.
- Shepard, L. & Kreitzer, A. (1987). The Texas teacher test. *Educational Researcher*, 16, 22-31.

- Sibert, P. (1989, February) *Relationships among the ACT, PPSST, NET, ACT COMP, and the GPA.* Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Eastern Educational Research Association, Savannah, GA.
- Simonsson, M. & Poelzer, H. (2000, April). Teacher certification tests: Variables that determine success for secondary pre-service teachers. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New Orleans, LA.
- Simonsson, M. & Poelzer, H. (2002, April). Teacher certification tests: Variables that predict pass/fail status on elementary professional development examination for pre-service teachers. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New Orleans, LA.
- State Board of Educator Certification. (2002). *ExCET Practice Manual*. Retrieved November 9, 2002, from http://www.sbec.state.tx.us
- State Board of Educator Certification. (2003) *About the TExES*. Retrieved February 25, 2003, from http://www.texes.nesinc.com/TE_aboutTExES.htm
- Steenkamer, S. (1992). NCAA rule changes to affect eligibility, academic progress. Retrieved March 10, 2003, from http://www.udel.edu/PR/update/92/19/12.html
- Stottlemyer, B., Reinhardt-Mondragon, P., & Eberhard, J. (2000). Strategies for new teacher retention: Creating a climate of authentic professional development for teachers with three or less years of experience. The South Texas Research and Development Center, Texas A&M University-Corpus Christi, Texas A&M University-Kingville.

- Taylor, J. & Dale, R. (1971). A survey of teachers in the first year of service.Bristol: University of Bristol, Institute of Education.
- Texas Education Agency, Austin Division of Policy Planning and Evaluation. (1995). Texas teacher retention, mobility, and attrition. Teacher Supply, Demand, and Quality Policy Research Project. Report Number 6.
- Villeme, M. (1982, November). The use of student background factors and college of education entry factors to predict performance on the Florida teacher certification examination. Paper presented at the Annual Conference of the Florida Educational Research Association, Orlando, FL.
- Weaver, W. (1983). America's teacher quality problem: Alternatives for reform. New York; Praeger.
- Westerman, J. (1989). Minimum state teacher certification standards and their relationship to effective teaching: Implications for teacher education. Action in Teacher Education, 11, 25-32.
- Westling, D. & Whitten, T. (1996). Rural special education teachers' plans to continue or leave their teaching positions. *Exceptional Children*, 62, 319-335.
- White, W., Burke, C., & Hodges, C. (1994). Can Texas teacher certification be predicted from SAT scores and grade point averages? *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, 21, 298-299.
- Woldbeck, T. (1998, January). A primer on logistic regression. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Southwest Educational Research Association, Houston, Texas.

VITA

Connie Sue Steele Greiner was born in Clarksburg, West Virginia, on May 2, 1954, the daughter of Laura Evelyn Owens Steele and Everette Ray Steele. After graduating from North Hills High School in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania in 1972, she enrolled at Indiana University of Pennsylvania and was awarded the Bachelor of Science degree with a major in Home Economics Education in December 1977. She received the Master of Science degree with a major in Vocational Technical Education from East Texas State University, in August 1995. In August 2000, she entered The Graduate School at Texas A&M University-Commerce and was awarded the Doctor of Education degree with a major in Supervision, Curriculum and Instruction-Higher Education in December 2003. She has been a university educator since 1999, after teaching in public education for 20 years. Currently, she is a Clinical Instructor in the Secondary and Higher Education Department at Texas A&M University-Commerce, working with the undergraduate field-based teacher certification program and the alternative certification teacher education program. She has been married since January 7, 1978 to Robert Greiner, Sr. and they have two children - Robert Noel Greiner, Jr., born in 1984, and Stephanie Anne Greiner, born in 1991.

Permanent address: 1325 Woodthorpe Drive Mesquite, Texas 75181

103